Université de Montréal

Evaluation of Neurodegenerative Diseases With [<sup>18</sup>F]flortaucipir : Comparison of Visual Reads With Tau PET Quantification and Cerebrospinal Fluid Analysis

> *Par* Karine Provost

Faculté de Médecine

Mémoire présenté en vue de l'obtention du grade de Maîtrise

en sciences biomédicales, option sciences du vieillissement

Décembre 2021

© Karine Provost, 2021

Université de Montréal

Faculté de Médecine

Ce mémoire intitulé

Evaluation of Neurodegenerative Diseases With [<sup>18</sup>F]flortaucipir :

Comparison of Visual Reads With Tau PET Quantification and Cerebrospinal Fluid Analysis

Présenté par

**Karine Provost** 

A été évalué(e) par un jury composé des personnes suivantes

Matthieu Pelletier-Galarneau Président-rapporteur

> Jean-Paul Soucy Directeur de recherche

> > Gil D. Rabinovici Codirecteur

# Hélène Masson

Membre du jury

## Résumé

Contexte & objectifs: L'avenement de biomarqueurs in vivo pour la maladie d'Alzheimer a révolutionné la recherche clinique dans ce domaine. Nous avons comparé le taux de positivité pour le biomarqueur tau (statut-T) dérivé de l'interprétation visuelle des études TEP au [<sup>18</sup>F]flortaucipir (FTP), de l'analyse quantitative du FTP et de la mesure de la protéine Tau phosphorylée en position 281 (PTau181) dans le liquide céphalorachidien (LCR). Méthodologie: Nous avons inclus 351 participants avec divers diagnostics cliniques provenant de trois cohortes ayant subi une étude TEP au FTP ainsi qu'une mesure du PTau181 dans un délai de 18 mois. Le statut-T a été dérivé de : (1) l'interprétation visuelle à l'aveugle du FTP par deux observateurs; (2) la quantification SUVR (standardized uptake value ratio) du FTP d'une région d'intérêt composite temporale (seuil : SUVR  $\geq$  1.27); (3) la concentration dans le LCR de Elecsys<sup>®</sup> Phospho-Tau (181P) (Roche Diagnostics) (seuil : PTau181  $\geq$  24.5 pg/ml). **Résultats:** L'interprétation visuelle du FTP a entraîné le plus haut taux de T+, alors que les T+ par quantification SUVR augmentaient progressivement des sujets cognitivement normaux (CN) vers les sujets avec troubles cognitifs légers (TCL) et ceux avec démence de type Alzheimer (DA). Le taux de T+ par PTau181 était intermédiaire à ceux de l'analyse visuelle et quantitative du FTP pour les CN, similaire à la quantification SUVR pour les TCL et plus faible chez les DA. La concordance entre le statut-T par paire de modalité fluctuait de 68% à 76% et variait selon le diagnostic, étant plus élevé chez les DA. L'interprétation visuelle du FTP offrait la plus haute sensibilité (0.96) pour discriminer entre les sujets avec TCL ou DA amyloïde-positifs des sujets CN et non-Alzheimer, mais une spécificité plus faible (0.60). La spécificité était la plus élevée avec la quantification SUVR (0.91) avec une sensibilité de 0.89, alors que la sensibilité (0.73) et la spécificité (0.72) étaient de même niveau pour le PTau181 dans le LCR. Conclusion: Le choix d'un biomarqueur tau pourrait varier selon le stade de la maladie et les objectifs de recherche visant à maximiser la sensibilité ou la spécificité. L'interprétation visuelle des TEP tau augmente la sensibilité en comparaison avec la quantification seule, en particulier dans les stades précoces de la maladie.

Mots-clés : Tau, TEP, Flortaucipir, Alzheimer, biomarqueurs, LCR

## Abstract

Background & purpose: The advent of in vivo biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease (AD) pathology has transformed clinical research in this field. The purpose of this study is to compare rates of tau biomarker positivity (T-status) per the 2018 AD Research Framework derived from [<sup>18</sup>F]flortaucipir (FTP) PET visual assessment, FTP quantification, and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) phosphorylated Tau-181 (PTau181) concentration. Methods: We included 351 subjects with varying clinical diagnoses from three cohorts with available FTP PET and CSF PTau181 within 18 months. T-status was derived from: (1) FTP blinded visual assessment by two raters; (2) FTP standardized uptake value ratio (SUVR) quantification from a temporal meta-ROI (threshold: SUVR  $\geq$  1.27); (3) Elecsys<sup>®</sup> Phospho-Tau (181P) CSF (Roche Diagnostics) concentrations (threshold: PTau181  $\geq$  24.5 pg/ml). Results: FTP visual reads yielded the highest rates of T+, while T+ by SUVR increased progressively from cognitively normal (CN) through mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and to AD dementia. T+ designation by CSF PTau181 was intermediate between FTP visual reads and SUVR values in CN, similar to SUVR in MCI, and lower in AD dementia. Concordance in Tstatus between modality pairs ranged from 68% to 76% and varied by clinical diagnosis, being highest in patients with AD dementia. In discriminating A $\beta$ + MCI and AD subjects from healthy controls and non-AD participants, FTP visual assessment was the most sensitive (0.96) but the least specific (0.60) approach. Specificity was highest with FTP SUVR (0.91) with a sensitivity of 0.89. Sensitivity (0.73) and specificity (0.72) were balanced for PTau181. **Conclusion**: The choice of a tau biomarker may differ by disease stage and research goals that seek to maximize sensitivity or specificity. Visual interpretations of tau PET enhance sensitivity compared to quantification alone, particularly in early disease stages.

Keywords : Tau, PET, Flortaucipir, Alzheimer's disease, biomarkers, CSF

# **Table of contents**

Résumé5
Abstract
Table of contents
List of tables
List of figures
Legend 17
Acknowledgements 21
Section 1 – Introduction
1.1 Epidemiology of Alzheimer's disease23
1.2 Definition of Alzheimer's disease
1.3 Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease 24
1.4 Biomarkers
1.4.1 Fluid biomarkers
1.4.2 Imaging biomarkers
1.4.3. AT(N) Research framework27
1.4.3.1 Definition of T-status
1.4.3.2 Concordance between fluid and imaging biomarkers of T-status
1.5 Objectives
Section 2 – Article published in European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging 35
2.1 Abstract
2.2 Introduction
2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Study population	40
2.3.2 FTP PET acquisition & processing	
2.3.3 CSF analysis	
2.3.4 T-status definition	
2.3.4.1 T-status based on visual assessment of FTP PET scans	41
2.3.4.2 T-status based on FTP SUVR quantification	43
2.3.4.3 T-status based on CSF PTau181	43
2.3.4.4 Statistical analyses	
2.4 Results	44
2.4.1 Reliability of FTP visual assessment	45
2.4.2 T-status by modality and clinical diagnosis	45
2.4.3 Concordance in T-status between modalities	46
2.4.4 Factors associated with a discordance in T-status	49
2.4.5 Sensitivity and specificity of T-status for A $eta$ + MCI/AD $_c$ by modality	51
2.5 Discussion	52
2.6 Conclusion	57
2.7 References	60
Section 3 – Discussion	73
3.1 Concordance of T-status between biomarkers	73
3.2 Comparative accuracy of biomarkers	75
3.2.1 FTP visual interpretation	75
3.2.2 FTP SUVR quantification	77
3.2.3 CSF PTau181	77
3.3 Novel biomarkers and the evolving AT(N) framework	

Section 4 – Conclusion	
References	
Supplementary material	
Supplementary Table 1	
Supplementary Figure 1	
Supplementary Table 2	
Supplementary Figure 2.	
Supplementary Figure 3.	
Supplementary Table 3	
Supplementary Figure 4.	
Supplementary Table 4	
Supplementary Table 5	

# List of tables

Table 1 Summary of AT(N) Research classification	27
Table 2. – Summary of published temporal meta-ROI SUVR thresholds for T-status determi	nation
	29
Table 3 Summary of concordance in biomarkers of T-status	33
Table 4 Patient characteristics	44
Table 5 Comparison of subjects with concordant T-status across all modalities and subject	ts with
discordant T-status in at least one modality pair	50
Table 6 Sensitivity and specificity by modality	51

# List of figures

Figure 1 Rating scheme for visual assessment of FTP pattern of binding to define T-status 42
Figure 2 Percentage of T+ by modality, clinical diagnosis, and amyloid status
Figure 3 Examples of discordant T-status between FTP visual assessment, SUVR quantification,
and CSF PTau181
Figure 4 Inter-modality overall percent agreement between modalities by clinical diagnosis. 48
Figure 5 Scatter plot of CSF PTau181 and FTP SUVR values in T+ and T– patients by FTP visual
assessment

# Legend

- Aβ: amyloid-beta
- AD : Alzheimer's disease
- AD<sub>c</sub> : Alzheimer's disease clinical diagnosis
- ADNI: Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative
- ADNC: Alzheimer's disease neuropathological changes
- AT(N): Amyloid Tau Neurodegeneration
- AUC: area-under-the-curve
- bvFTD: behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia
- CBS: corticobasal syndrome
- CN: cognitively normal
- CSF: cerebrospinal fluid
- FDA: Food and Drug Administration
- FDG: [<sup>18</sup>F]fluorodeoxyglucose
- FTP : [<sup>18</sup>F]flortaucipir
- IWG: International Working Group
- к: Cohen's kappa
- MBq: Megabecquerels
- MCI: mild cognitive impairment
- MMSE: Mini-mental status exam
- MRI: magnetic resonance imaging

OPA: overall percent agreement

PART: primary age-related tauopathy

PET: positron emission tomography

PTau217: phosphorylated Tau-217

PTau181: phosphorylated Tau-181

PVC: partial volume correction

ROI: region of interest

SD: standard deviation

SUVR: standardized uptake value ratio

TDP-43: TAR DNA binding protein 43

UCSF ADRC: University of California San Francisco Alzheimer's Disease Research Centre

À grand-maman

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr. Gil Rabinovici and Dr. Jean-Paul Soucy, for their guidance and support throughout my masters and redaction of this thesis. This project would not have been possible without the help and collaboration of all co-authors, who provided not only access to invaluable multi-center data but also insight and expertise to enrich analyses and interpretation of our findings. I am also grateful to all patients and families who have devoted time and energy into research participation and continue to allow us to better understand Alzheimer's disease. Finally, I would like to thank my colleagues without whom it would not have been possible to conciliate full-time practice and post-graduate studies, as well as my wonderful family and husband, who have supported me unconditionally in this journey.

## Section 1 – Introduction

## 1.1 Epidemiology of Alzheimer's disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is by far the most frequent etiology of dementia in older adults, affecting an estimated 60-80% of individuals afflicted with this condition("2021 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures," 2021). In the United States, it is estimated that there are currently more than 6 million individuals with clinical AD, representing about 1 in 9 people over 65 years old("2021 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures," 2021; Rajan et al., 2021). In Canada, most recent estimates indicate at least 500,000 Canadians living with Alzheimer's or another dementia(Alzheimer Society of Canada, 2016). These numbers are expected to reach 13,85 million in the United States by 2060 and over 900,000 in Canada by 2031 (Alzheimer Society of Canada, 2016; Rajan et al., 2021), illustrating the utmost importance of this disease and its impact on public health.

Although there is no single identifiable cause for AD, there are multiple established risk factors including age, genetics and family history, as well as potentially modifiable risk factors such as lifestyle, cardiovascular disease, education, social/cognitive engagement, traumatic brain injury, sleep, alcohol use and exposure to air pollutants("2021 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures," 2021).

In addition to the emotional and social burden inflicted on patients and their families, AD has enormous economic implications, in part due to healthcare costs (estimated at US\$355 billion in 2021 in the United States alone), but also indirectly through the costs of caregiving provided by relatives("2021 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures," 2021). In Canada, total health care system costs and out-of-pocket caregiver costs were over \$10 billion in 2016(Alzheimer Society of Canada). It is not surprising therefore, that significant financial and scientific resources worldwide have been devoted in the past decades to "finding a cure" to Alzheimer's.

## 1.2 Definition of Alzheimer's disease

Pathologically, AD is defined by the presence of two protein aggregates, namely amyloid plaques in the extracellular space and tau tangles which accumulate inside neuronal cells(Montine et al., 2012). Accumulation of these proteins temporally follow a typical topographical distribution as described by Braak and Braak(1991; Hyman et al., 2012), ultimately leading to neuronal death and onset of clinical deficits. Previously, the diagnosis of AD could only be confirmed at autopsy, however, the advent of biomarkers (described in detail in section 1.4) now allows diagnosis of the disease in living patients.

### 1.3 Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease

From a clinical standpoint, AD is considered as a continuum, ranging from preclinical disease during which patients are asymptomatic, to mild cognitive impairment (MCI) where symptoms are only mild and do not yet interfere with patients' daily activities, and finally to dementia, where patients face difficulties in multiple domains including memory, language and executive functions, affecting everyday life(Albert et al., 2011; McKhann et al., 2011; Sperling et al., 2011). Dementia in itself is nonspecific and can be caused by multiple disorders, the most frequent being AD, but also other neurodegenerative diseases, for example Lewy body disease, frontotemporal lobar degeneration, limbic-predominant age-related TDP-43 encephalopathy, as well as vascular causes(Barker et al., 2002; Nelson et al., 2019). Clinical diagnosis of AD thus remains probabilistic, based on established criteria which mostly rely on history and neuropsychological examination(McKhann et al., 2011).

Even in specialized centres, misdiagnosis of AD based on clinical criteria is common, with specificity as low as 44.3% to 70.8% compared to autopsy (Beach et al., 2012). In a recent large-scale multi-center study on the use of amyloid positron emission tomography (PET), 36% of 8742 patients with a clinical diagnosis of AD were amyloid-negative, suggesting that they were misdiagnosed(Rabinovici et al., 2019). Misdiagnosis is especially frequent in patients with early onset disease or in patients with atypical variants of Alzheimer's, such as patients with non-

24

amnestic phenotypes presenting with predominant language, executive, behavioral or visual difficulties (Graff-Radford et al., 2021). Furthermore, with aging, the occurrence of multiple concomitant pathologies in the brain becomes very frequent (Brenowitz et al., 2017; Kapasi et al., 2017; Karanth et al., 2020). For example, in a recent study by Karanth and colleagues (2020) in which autopsy was conducted in a sample of 375 subjects (mean age 86.9 years), up to 12.3% of individuals had 4 concomitant proteinopathies, and 38.1% had 3 proteinopathies. The frequency of mixed pathology was even higher in patients with dementia, with 89.1% of patients having quadruple proteinopathies. It becomes increasingly challenging and important to accurately diagnose the presence of AD in this context.

In view of this, the International Working Group (IWG) has recently published in June of 2021 novel recommendations for clinical diagnosis of AD, which now include a combined clinicalbiological approach: *"The diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease is clinical-biological. It requires the presence of both a specific clinical phenotype of Alzheimer's disease (phenotype positive) and biomarker evidence of Alzheimer's disease pathology (amyloid-positive and tau positive)."* (Dubois et al., 2021). These new recommendations represent a shift in clinical paradigm since biomarkers had been until very recently restricted to use in the research setting, as detailed in the following section.

### **1.4 Biomarkers**

The accumulation of amyloid and tau in the brain occurs many years before onset of symptoms(Jack et al., 2010). With disease progression, the more extensive deposition of neurofibrillary tau tangles (usually starting at Braak stages III and IV) leads to the onset of clinical deficits. Local deposition of tau (much more than amyloid) correlates well with both disease severity and the expected topography of lesions as inferred from symptoms(Delacourte et al., 1999; Giannakopoulos et al., 2003; Moloney et al., 2021; Nelson et al., 2012; Ossenkoppele et al., 2016). Detecting the presence of these proteins in the brain of living patients, before they can be seen during autopsy, is therefore of capital importance, not only to allow for early and accurate

25

diagnosis, but also in an attempt to treat or halt the neuropathological processes responsible for patients' cognitive decline while patients are still in the pre-symptomatic stage.

Biomarkers are biological indicators that can be detected through various means in living subjects and reflect underlying accumulation of pathological processes, for instance the accumulation of amyloid plaques, tau tangles, and downstream neuronal degeneration which occur in AD. There are multiple types of biomarkers, the most frequently studied and currently used including fluid biomarkers and imaging biomarkers.

#### **1.4.1 Fluid biomarkers**

The most common and extensively validated fluid biomarkers studied to date involve analysis of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) for the presence of pathological hallmarks of AD, such as levels of amyloid-beta (Aβ), more specifically low Aβ42 and Aβ42/Aβ40 ratio, elevated phosphorylated tau and total tau, as well as other substances released during neuronal degeneration such as neurofilament light chain or neuroinflammation-related microglial activation like YKL-40 (Hansson et al., 2019; Olsson et al., 2016). Emerging evidence is now growing on biomarkers in other, more easily collected bodily fluids, especially blood (plasma) biomarkers, and even saliva(Olsson et al., 2016; Villa et al., 2020).

#### 1.4.2 Imaging biomarkers

Imaging biomarkers include those measured with structural imaging such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) which may reveal downstream effects of neuronal loss, namely atrophy. In contrast, imaging with PET allows for functional imaging through injection of various radiotracers specifically designed for the study of metabolism (ex: [<sup>18</sup>F]fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG), reflecting local glucose metabolism induced by neuronal activity) or reflecting local accumulation of various abnormal proteins, including amyloid (ex: [<sup>18</sup>F]florbetaben, [<sup>18</sup>F]florbetapir, [<sup>18</sup>F]flutemetamol, [<sup>11</sup>C]PiB) and tau (ex: [<sup>18</sup>F]THK5317, [<sup>18</sup>F]THK5351, [<sup>18</sup>F]MK-6240 and [<sup>18</sup>F]AV1451 or flortaucipir (FTP))(Beyer & Brendel, 2021; van Waarde et al., 2021). As such, molecular imaging is often used as a screening tool for participants in clinical research for confirmation of disease biology(Schwarz, 2021).

26

FTP is of particular interest, allowing for *in vivo* detection of Alzheimer's tau pathology with high accuracy, as shown in autoradiographic and autopsy studies(Fleisher et al., 2020; Lowe et al., 2016; Lowe et al., 2020; Marquie et al., 2015; Marquie et al., 2017; Pontecorvo et al., 2020). Although tau generally accumulates slightly later than amyloid in the pathophysiologic process of AD(Jack et al., 2013; Jack et al., 2010), imaging of tau provides incremental value over amyloid PET, given that it correlates more closely with symptomatology and severity of cognitive deficits in patients(Ossenkoppele et al., 2016). Imaging with Tau PET as opposed to amyloid also reduces the likelihood of detecting incidental amyloidosis, a probability that increases with age(Ossenkoppele et al., 2015). High accuracy of FTP in identifying neuropathologically-defined AD(Fleisher et al., 2020) led to the recent regulatory approval of this compound by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the United States, making it the first tau-PET imaging agent available for clinical use.

### 1.4.3. AT(N) Research framework

In the AD research setting, correct identification of biomarker status is important for screening participants and for outcome evaluation in clinical trials of novel disease-modifying therapies(Blennow & Zetterberg, 2018; Cummings, 2019; Hampel et al., 2021). As such, Jack et al. (2016) proposed a binary classification of all individuals as positive or negative for amyloid (A), tau (T) and neurodegeneration (N). This classification allows interchangeable use of CSF or imaging measures, although reflecting different aspects of amyloid and tau biology, as shown in Table 1.

	CSF	Imaging
Amyloid (A)	Aβ42 or Aβ42/Aβ40 ratio ( $\downarrow$ )	amyloid PET (个)
Tau (T)	Phosphorylated tau (个)	tau PET (个)
Neurodegeneration (N)	Total tau (个)	FDG PET ( $\downarrow$ )
	Neurofilament light chain (个)	Structural MRI ( $\downarrow$ )

Table 1. - Summary of AT(N) Research classification

The combined information from different biomarkers allows classification of subjects into one of eight possible profiles, indicating whether a given subject is on the Alzheimer's continuum or not. Since the presence of amyloid is required for a diagnosis of AD, only subjects who are A+ (A+T-N-, A+T+N-, A+T-N+, A+T+N+) are considered to be on the Alzheimer's continuum, either in the preclinical phase or in various more advanced pathological stages. In contrast, A- profiles are either normal (A-T-N-) or considered to be indicative of non-AD pathological changes (A-T+N-, A-T-N+, (Hampel et al., 2021; Jack et al., 2018).

#### 1.4.3.1 Definition of T-status

To date, there is no widely accepted consensus on how to define T-status given large variability owing to methodological differences between techniques and study populations. Tau PET is frequently analyzed using semi-quantitative metrics such as standardized uptake value ratio (SUVR), often considering a region-of-interest (ROI) consisting of brain regions involved early in disease course. The most commonly described ROI for defining T-status using this method is an aggregate temporal lobe region-of-interest (meta-ROI)(Jack et al., 2017; Maass et al., 2017; Ossenkoppele et al., 2018). Independent studies have proposed different SUVR thresholds for positivity, typically ranging between SUVR 1.2-1.4, as summarized in Table 2, and are often not directly comparable, owing to methodological differences. The accuracy of semi-quantitative metrics, however, can be affected by multiple determinants, including partial volume, threshold effects and spillover from off-target areas of tracer accumulation, including choroid plexi, dural venous sinuses, white matter and basal ganglia (Baker et al., 2019; Beyer & Brendel, 2021; Lowe et al., 2016). In addition, quantification of tau PET data requires rigorous processing, adequate co-registration of PET and structural imaging data and access to structural MRI for each subject, which may limit widespread use of this method in a clinical setting.

Study	ROI	SUVR threshold	Partial volume
			correction (PVC)
Jack et al. (2017)	Temporal meta-ROI <sup>a</sup>	<b>1.20 – 1.23</b> (cognitively	No
		impaired vs young controls)	

		1.33 (cognitively impaired vs	
		age-matched controls)	
Maass et al. (2017)	Temporal meta-ROI <sup>a</sup>	<b>1.27</b> (cohort 1)	No
		<b>1.20</b> (cohort 2)	
Mishra et al. (2017)	Bilateral whole cortex	1.25 (whole cerebellum)	Yes
	ROI	1.22 (cerebellar cortex)	
Ossenkoppele et al.	Temporal meta-ROI <sup>a</sup>	1.34 (Mean+2SD of controls)	No
(2018)		1.27 (Younden Index)	
Mattsson et al. (2018)	Braak I-V <sup>b</sup>	1.37	Yes
Jack et al. (2019)	Temporal meta-ROI <sup>a</sup>	1.25	No
Mattsson-Carlgren,	Inferior temporal	1.29	No
Leuzy, et al. (2020)	cortex		
Lowe et al. (2020) <sup>+</sup>	Temporal meta-ROI <sup>a</sup>	1.29	No

Table 2. – Summary of published temporal meta-ROI SUVR thresholds for T-status determination

<sup>a</sup> temporal meta-ROI: entorhinal, amygdala, parahippocampal, fusiform, inferior temporal, middle temporal
<sup>b</sup> Braak I-V: same as above + posterior cingulate, caudal anterior cingulate, rostral anterior cingulate, precuneus, inferior parietal, superior parietal, insula, supramarginal, lingual, superior temporal, medial orbitofrontal, rostral
middle frontal, lateral orbitofrontal, caudal middle frontal, superior frontal and lateral occipital

<sup>†</sup> published after thesis article in Chapter 2

While quantitative PET analysis is often used in conjunction with or instead of visual interpretation(Schwarz, 2021), visual interpretation of tau PET has multiple potential advantages over SUVR quantification alone, including assessment of topography of binding and detection of significant focal signal. However, a widely accepted standard for interpretation is currently lacking. Fleisher et al. (2020) recently proposed a clinically applicable SUVR-independent visual rating system consisting of 3 qualitatively defined FTP binding categories based on expected pattern in AD: 1- negative (no increased activity in neocortex, or activity restricted to the mesial temporal, anterolateral temporal and/or frontal regions) ; 2- moderate FTP AD pattern (uptake in the posterolateral temporal or occipital region); 3- advanced FTP AD pattern (uptake in the parietal or precuneus region or increased activity in the frontal region with uptake in posterolateral temporal, parietal or occipital region). This visual rating algorithm was validated in

a cohort of patients with autopsy data available and showed high accuracy for detection of Braak stage V-VI neurofibrillary tangles and high Alzheimer's disease neuropathological changes (ADNC). Inter-rater agreement (5 raters) was also high ( $\kappa$ =0.80). A similar visual rating algorithm has recently been proposed by Sonni et al. (2020), which was validated in two different cohorts and shown to be reliable, with high sensitivity and specificity for identifying patients with AD. In this proposed system, FTP binding pattern is assigned 4 possible categories: 1- negative (no significant binding outside expected background and off-target signal); 2- mild temporal binding (mild to moderate binding restricted to the medial temporal lobe and fusiform gyrus); 3- AD-like binding (binding extending beyond the medial temporal lobe/fusiform gyrus, consistent with Braak stage IV or greater); 4- non-AD-like (binding with atypical distribution, not following expected Braak staging for AD, for example subcortical or white matter signal). Authors reported a good inter-rater agreement (2 raters) for this visual rating system ( $\kappa$ =0.73), high correlation with cortical FTP SUVR (r=0.71, p<0.001), and association with clinical diagnosis and amyloid-status. Although this visual rating scheme is similar to that of Fleisher and colleagues, the inclusion of a mild temporal binding category may offer increased sensitivity for detection of earlier Braak stages. Given the recent FDA approval of FTP for clinical use in the United States, visual interpretation is likely to gain importance in the near future.

Complementary to PET biomarkers, CSF-based analyses of phospho-Tau (PTau181) have been well validated and are commonly used in the clinical and research setting given their relatively low cost and ease of accessibility compared to PET imaging. However, it has been proposed that analytical methodology, especially the type of assay, can considerably influence measures of PTau181 concentrations(Blennow & Zetterberg, 2018; Hansson et al., 2018; Palmqvist et al., 2019). For example, the widely used ELISA assay may lead to as much as 15% variability for biomarker quantification across laboratories(Grothe et al., 2021; Mattsson et al., 2013). The recently developed Elecsys® Phospho-Tau (181P) CSF assay (Roche Diagnostics International Ltd, Rotkreuz, Switzerland) is a fully automated electrochemiluminescence immunoassay which offers the advantage of increased reproducibility across multiple sites compared to other available assays such as ELISA-based assays(Dakterzada et al., 2021; Hansson et al., 2018; Lifke et al., 2019). Recently published data also suggest very high accuracy of Elecsys-derived CSF biomarkers *in vivo* 

for detection of AD neuropathology at subsequent autopsy (Grothe et al., 2021; Mattsson-Carlgren et al., In press.), with an area under the curve of 0.88 for PTau181 in detection of Braak tau stages(Grothe et al., 2021) and an area under the curve of 0.96 for PTau181/A $\beta$ 42 in identifying intermediate-to-high ADNC(Mattsson-Carlgren et al., In press.).

### 1.4.3.2 Concordance between fluid and imaging biomarkers of T-status

Previous work has compared neuroimaging and CSF classification of amyloid and shown high concordance between biomarker status(Blennow et al., 2015; Doecke et al., 2020; Fagan et al., 2006; Jung et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2020; Willemse et al., 2021). In contrast, reports on agreement between CSF and PET-based biomarkers of tau pathology have shown highly variable results, with only modest correlation between both measures (r ranging from 0.29 to 0.75), and variable agreement on T-status ranging from 50 to 87%, as summarized in Table 3.

Study	PET tracer &	CSF assay &	Population	Correlation	%
	threshold	threshold			agreement
Chhatwal et	FTP	ELISA Innotest	N=31	r= 0.48	n/a
al. (2016)	Total cortical	(no cutpoint)	CN	(p<0.05)	
	SUVR (no				
	cutpoint)				
Gordon et al.	FTP	ELISA Innotest	N= 52	r= 0.46	n/a
(2016)	Inferior	(no cutpoint)	CN and	p<0.001	
	temporal lobe		cognitively		
	SUVR (no		impaired		
	cutpoint)				
Brier et al.	FTP	ELISA Innotest	N=46	r= 0.29	n/a
(2016)	Mean cortical	(no cutpoint)	CN and mild	p=0.089	
	SUVR (no		AD		
	cutpoint)				
Mattsson et	FTP	ELISA Innotest	N= 73	β= 0.00567	70%
al. (2017)	Braak I-V SUVR	(pTau cutpoint:	CN, MCI and	p<0.01 (in AD	
	(cutpoint: 1.41-	81 ng/L)	AD	only)	
	PVC)				

La Joie et al.	FTP	ELISA Innotest	N=53	r= 0.75	87%
(2018)	Mean cortical	(pTau cutpoint:	Mixed AD	(p<0.05)	
	SUVR	24 ng/L)	and non-AD		
	(cutpoint: 1.49)				
Leuzy,	[ <sup>18</sup> F]THK5317	ELISA Innotest	N=14 (MCI	n/a	50%
Cicognola, et	Multiple	(pTau cutpoint:	and AD)		
al. (2019)	cutpoints	80 pg/mL)			
Zhao et al.	FTP	ELISA Innotest	N=115	β= 4.74	n/a
(2019)	Global cortical	(no cutpoint)	CN, MCI and	p<0.01 (in AD	
	SUVR (no		AD	only)	
	cutpoint)				
Mattsson-	FTP	Meso Scale	N=131	n/a	74%
Carlgren,	Inferior	Discovery	CN, MCI and		
Andersson,	temporal	(pTau cutpoint:	AD		
et al. (2020)	cortex SUVR	152.6 ng/L)			
	(1.31 -PVC)				
Mattsson-	FTP	ELISA Innotest	N=490	Inferior	77%
Carlgren,	Inferior	and	CN, MCI and	temporal	
Leuzy, et al.	temporal	Euroimmun	AD	cortex:	
(2020)	cortex SUVR	(pTau cutpoint:		r=0.710	
	(1.29)	60.2 ng/L)		p<0.001	
	Braak V-VI				
	(1.32)			Braak V-VI:	65%
				r=0.594	
				p<0.001	
Meyer et al.	FTP	Elecsys	N=322	r=0.51	75%
(2020)	Temporal	(pTau cutpoint:	(CU, MCI and	p<.001	
	meta-ROI SUVR	26.64 pg/mL)	AD)		
	(cutpoint 1.37)				
Okafor et al.	FTP	ELISA Innotest	N=29	r=0.42	n/a
(2020)	Global cortical	(no cutpoint)	MCI	p=0.04	
	SUVR (no				
	cutpoint)				
McSweeney	FTP	ELISA Innotest	N=74	r=0.55	n/a
et al. (2020)	8 ROIs	(no cutpoint)	CN	p<0.001	
	(no cutpoint)			(entorhinal	
				ROI)	

Wolters et al.	FTP	ELISA Innotest	N=78	β=0.50	n/a
(2020)	Entorhinal	(pTau cutpoint:	CN, MCI and	p≤0.01	
	cortex SUVR	52 pg/mL)	AD		
Kreisl et al.	[ <sup>18</sup> F]MK-6240	ELISA Innotest	N=21	r=0.39	n/a
(2021) <sup>+</sup>	Braak regions (I	(no cutpoint)	CN, mixed	p=0.08	
	to VI) (no		AD and non-	(for Braak II)	
	cutpoint)		AD		
Guo et al.	FTP	Elecsys	N=245	(main analyses	80%
(2021) <sup>+</sup>	Temporal	(pTau cutpoint:	CN and MCI	focused on plasma/PFT and	(on N=20 with
	meta-ROI SUVR	26.64 pg/mL)		plasma/CSF)	plasma, CSF and PFT)
	(cutpoint 1.37)				
Boerwinkle	FTP	Elecsys	N=371	r=0.369	n/a
et al. (2021) $^{+}$	composite ROI	(no cutpoint)	CN, MCI and	p<0.05	
	SUVR (amygdala,		AN		
	entorhinal cor-				
	tex, inferior				
	temporal cortex,				
	and lateral				
	occipital cortex)				
	(cutpoint 1.22)				

### Table 3. - Summary of concordance in biomarkers of T-status

Only studies reporting percent agreement and/or correlation between CSF pTau and tau PET are shown.

<sup>+</sup> published after thesis article in Chapter 2

As can be noted in Table 3, such variable concordance can be explained in part by the impact of methodology and technical factors, including wide variability between studies on thresholds for T-status for both CSF and PET measures, as well as use of different radiotracers, ROIs and CSF assays. Furthermore, comparative analysis of tau PET with the novel Elecsys® Phospho-Tau (181P) CSF assay described above is scarce(Boerwinkle et al., 2021; Guo et al., 2021; Meyer et al., 2020). Finally, studies have focused so far on comparing quantitative measures of tau PET with CSF, but no study has directly compared them to visual read.

## **1.5 Objectives**

The objectives of this study were to assess concordance of T-status and correlation between different fluid and imaging biomarkers of tau in a cohort of patients with a wide range of neurodegenerative conditions and cognitively normal individuals issued from three independent cohorts. In particular, we aimed to:

- 1- Assess concordance of binary T-status obtained by FTP visual assessment, SUVR guantification and CSF PTau181
- 2- Compare sensitivity and specificity of each modality for distinguishing amyloid-positive patients with MCI and dementia due to AD from other clinical groups.

*Note*: The results of this study were published in the European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging, presented in its entirety in the following section. The first author of the article and author of the present thesis was responsible for project design, data collection and analysis, interpretation of findings, drafting and revision of the manuscript. Co-authors were involved as collaborators in all stages.

# Section 2 – Article published in European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging

Comparing ATN-T designation by tau PET visual reads, tau PET quantification, and CSF PTau181 across three cohorts

Karine Provost<sup>a</sup>, Leonardo Iaccarino<sup>a</sup>, David N. Soleimani-Meigooni<sup>a,b</sup>, Suzanne Baker<sup>b</sup>, Lauren Edwards<sup>a</sup>, Udo Eichenlaub<sup>c</sup>, Oskar Hansson<sup>d</sup>, William Jagust<sup>b,e</sup>, Mustafa Janabi<sup>b</sup>, Renaud La Joie<sup>a</sup>, Orit Lesman-Segev<sup>a</sup>, Taylor J. Mellinger<sup>a</sup>, Bruce L. Miller<sup>a</sup>, Rik Ossenkoppele<sup>d,f</sup>, Julie Pham<sup>a</sup>, Ruben Smith<sup>d</sup>, Ida Sonni<sup>b,g</sup> Amelia Strom<sup>a</sup>, Niklas Mattsson-Carlgren<sup>d,h,i</sup>, Gil D. Rabinovici<sup>a,b,e,j</sup>

For the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI)\*

<sup>a</sup> Memory and Aging Center, Dept. of Neurology, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, US

<sup>b</sup> Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA, US

<sup>c</sup> Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Penzberg, Germany

<sup>d</sup> Clinical Memory Research Unit, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

<sup>e</sup> Helen Wills Neuroscience Institute, UC Berkeley, Berkeley, CA, US

<sup>*f*</sup> Alzheimer Center Amsterdam, Department of Neurology, Amsterdam Neuroscience, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam UMC, Amsterdam, the Netherlands

<sup>*g*</sup> Ahmanson Translational Theranostics Division, Department of Molecular and Medical Pharmacology, UC Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, US

<sup>h</sup> Department of Neurology, Skåne University Hospital, Lund, Sweden <sup>i</sup> Wallenberg Centre for Molecular Medicine, Lund University, Lund, Sweden <sup>j</sup> Dept. of Radiology and Biomedical Imaging, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, US

\*Data used in preparation of this article were obtained from the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI) database (adni.loni.usc.edu). As such, the investigators within the ADNI contributed to the design and implementation of ADNI and/or provided data but did not participate in analysis or writing of this report. A complete listing of ADNI investigators can be found at: <u>http://adni.loni.usc.edu/wp-</u> content/uploads/how to apply/ADNI Acknowledgement List.pdf

Corresponding author:

Karine Provost, M.D.

University of California San Francisco, Memory and Aging Center

675 Nelson Rising Lane, Suite 190, San Francisco, California, USA, 94143

Fax: +1(415)353-8292

Article reproduced with permission from Springer Nature
# 2.1 Abstract

**Purpose:** To compare rates of tau biomarker positivity (T-status) per the 2018 Alzheimer's Disease (AD) Research Framework derived from [<sup>18</sup>F]flortaucipir (FTP) PET visual assessment, FTP quantification, and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) phosphorylated Tau-181 (PTau181).

**Methods**: We included 351 subjects with varying clinical diagnoses from three cohorts with available FTP PET and CSF PTau181 within 18 months. T-status was derived from: (1) FTP visual assessment by two blinded raters; (2) FTP standardized uptake value ratio (SUVR) quantification from a temporal meta-ROI (threshold: SUVR  $\geq$  1.27); (3) Elecsys<sup>®</sup> Phospho-Tau (181P) CSF (Roche Diagnostics) concentrations (threshold: PTau181  $\geq$  24.5 pg/ml).

**Results:** FTP visual reads yielded the highest rates of T+, while T+ by SUVR increased progressively from cognitively normal (CN) through mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and AD dementia. T+ designation by CSF PTau181 was intermediate between FTP visual reads and SUVR values in CN, similar to SUVR in MCI, and lower in AD dementia. Concordance in T-status between modality pairs ranged from 68% to 76% and varied by clinical diagnosis, being highest in patients with AD dementia. In discriminating A $\beta$ + MCI and AD subjects from healthy controls and non-AD participants, FTP visual assessment was most sensitive (0.96) but least specific (0.60). Specificity was highest with FTP SUVR (0.91) with sensitivity of 0.89. Sensitivity (0.73) and specificity (0.72) were balanced for PTau181.

**Conclusion:** The choice of tau biomarker may differ by disease stage and research goals that seek to maximize sensitivity or specificity. Visual interpretations of tau PET enhance sensitivity compared to quantification alone, particularly in early disease stages.

Keywords: Tau, PET, Flortaucipir, Alzheimer's disease, biomarkers, CSF

# **2.2 Introduction**

Alzheimer's disease (AD) clinical research has been transformed by the advent of in vivo biomarkers for amyloid-beta (Aβ) and tau; the proteins that form the plaques and tangles that define AD neuropathology (Lowe et al., 2016; Marquie et al., 2015; Olsson et al., 2016; Scholl et al., 2019). Correct identification of biomarker status is important for screening participants and for outcome evaluation in clinical trials of novel disease-modifying therapies (Blennow & Zetterberg, 2018; Cummings, 2019). The AT(N) research framework (Jack et al., 2016) proposes binary classification of all individuals as positive or negative for amyloid, tau and neurodegeneration, allowing interchangeable use of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) or imaging measures. While previous work has compared neuroimaging and CSF classification of amyloid and neurodegeneration, few studies have compared fluid and imaging definitions of T-status (Brier et al., 2016; Chhatwal et al., 2016; Gordon et al., 2016; La Joie et al., 2018; Leuzy, Chiotis, et al., 2019; Mattsson et al., 2017; Mattsson et al., 2018; Meyer et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2019).

Tau positron emission tomography (PET) is frequently analyzed using semi-quantitative metrics such as the standardized uptake value ratio (SUVR), commonly considering a region of interest (ROI) consisting of brain regions involved early in disease course, such as a temporal lobe region-of-interest (meta-ROI) (Jack et al., 2017; Maass et al., 2017; Ossenkoppele et al., 2018). Independent studies have indicated different meta-ROI SUVR thresholds for positivity, typically ranging between SUVR 1.2-1.4 (Jack et al., 2019; Jack et al., 2017; Maass et al., 2017; Maass et al., 2017; Meyer et al., 2020; Ossenkoppele et al., 2018). The accuracy of semi-quantitative metrics, however, can be affected by multiple determinants, including partial volume, threshold effects and spillover from off-target areas (Baker et al., 2019; Lowe et al., 2016). Quantification of tau PET data also requires access to structural magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and adequate co-registration.

In contrast to SUVR quantification, visual interpretation of tau PET allows for assessment of topography of binding and may lead to detection of significant focal signal. However, a widely accepted standard for interpretation is currently lacking. A visual rating algorithm has been recently proposed by Fleisher et al., with high accuracy for detection of Braak stage V-VI neurofibrillary tangles and high Alzheimer's disease neuropathological changes (ADNC) at

autopsy using [<sup>18</sup>F]flortaucipir (FTP) (Fleisher et al., 2020). Visual interpretation of FTP PET is likely to gain importance given the recent Food and Drug Administration approval of this tracer for clinical use in the United States.

CSF-based analyses of phospho-Tau (PTau181) have been well validated and are commonly used (Blennow et al., 2010). However, it has been proposed that analytical methodology, including type of assay, can considerably influence measures of PTau181 concentrations (Blennow & Zetterberg, 2018; Hansson et al., 2018; Palmqvist et al., 2019). The Elecsys<sup>®</sup> Phospho-Tau (181P) CSF assay (Roche Diagnostics International Ltd, Rotkreuz, Switzerland) is a fully automated electrochemiluminescence immunoassay with increased reproducibility across multiple sites compared to other available assays (Hansson et al., 2018; Lifke et al., 2019). The literature on comparative analysis of this assay with tau PET is limited (Mattsson-Carlgren, Andersson, et al., 2020; Meyer et al., 2020).

In contrast to amyloid biomarkers for which CSF and PET show high concordance (Blennow et al., 2015; Doecke et al., 2020; Fagan et al., 2006; Oh et al., 2017), agreement between PET and CSFbased biomarkers of tau pathology are highly variable, ranging from 50% to 87%, and show only modest correlation (r=0.29 to 0.75) (Brier et al., 2016; Chhatwal et al., 2016; Gordon et al., 2016; La Joie et al., 2018; Leuzy, Chiotis, et al., 2019; Mattsson et al., 2017; Mattsson et al., 2018; Mattsson-Carlgren, Andersson, et al., 2020; Mattsson-Carlgren, Leuzy, et al., 2020; Meyer et al., 2020; Okafor et al., 2020; Wolters et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2019), largely impacted by methodology and technical factors. The objectives of this study were to perform cross-validation of different biomarkers of tau in a cohort of patients with neurodegenerative conditions. In particular, we aimed to firstly assess concordance of binary T-status obtained by FTP visual assessment, SUVR quantification and CSF PTau181; and secondly to compare sensitivity and specificity of each modality for distinguishing amyloid-positive patients with mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and dementia due to AD from other clinical groups.

# 2.3 Methods

#### 2.3.1 Study population

The cohort consisted of a convenience sample of 351 participants enrolled in research studies at the University of California San Francisco Alzheimer's Disease Research Center (UCSF ADRC, n=98), the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI, n=179) and the Swedish BioFINDER study (n=74). The participants spanned a wide range of clinical diagnoses (Supplementary Table 1), had undergone FTP PET between June 2014 and May 2019, had structural MRI available, and had undergone lumbar puncture within 18 months from the PET scan with available PTau181 Elecsys measurements (Supplementary Figure 1).

Clinical diagnoses were made blinded to biomarker results, based on established criteria; participants were either cognitively unimpaired or assigned a diagnosis of MCI (Albert et al., 2011), probable AD dementia (McKhann et al., 2011) (herein referred to as AD clinical diagnosis: AD<sub>c</sub>), or non-AD disorders (behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia (Rascovsky et al., 2011), semantic or non-fluent variant primary progressive aphasia (Gorno-Tempini et al., 2011), corticobasal syndrome (Armstrong et al., 2013), progressive supranuclear palsy (Hoglinger et al., 2017; Litvan et al., 1996), dementia with Lewy bodies (McKeith et al., 2017) or vascular dementia (Roman et al., 1993)). Amyloid status was determined by PET or CSF, details can be found in Supplementary Table 2.

Some data used in the preparation of this article were obtained from the ADNI database (adni.loni.usc.edu). ADNI was launched in 2003 as a public-private partnership, led by Principal Investigator Michael W. Weiner, MD. The primary goal of ADNI has been to test whether serial MRI, PET, other biological markers, and clinical and neuropsychological assessment can be combined to measure the progression of MCI and early AD.

Written informed consent was obtained from all participants or their surrogates. The study was approved by local institutional review boards for human research.

#### 2.3.2 FTP PET acquisition & processing

FTP PET acquisition and processing has been described in detail elsewhere (Maass et al., 2017; Ossenkoppele et al., 2018) (Supplementary Table 2). In brief, participants underwent FTP brain PET following injection of ~370 MBg at 80-100 min post-injection (UCSF and BioFINDER) or 75-105 min post-injection (ADNI). PET data was reconstructed using an iterative method with attenuation correction. Subjects also underwent MRI, which was used for PET processing only. FTP PET regional SUVR data was extracted in native space after co-registration to T1-weighted cortical MRI with SPM12 and parcellation with FreeSurfer (version 5.3, https://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu/). Reference region for FTP-PET was the inferior cerebellar gray matter(Baker et al., 2017). Non-partial volume corrected data were used.

### 2.3.3 CSF analysis

CSF samples were collected following lumbar puncture and processed using established protocols (Supplementary Table 2). Samples were stored in polypropylene tubes at -60°C or below until biomarker All samples analyzed with fully analysis. were the automated electrochemiluminescence immunoassay Elecsys Phospho-Tau (181P) CSF on a cobas e 601 analyzer (Roche Diagnostics International Ltd, Rotkreuz, Switzerland). Samples from UCSF and BioFINDER cohorts were analyzed at the Clinical Neurochemistry Laboratory, University of Gothenburg, Sweden, and samples from ADNI were analyzed at the University of Pennsylvania biomarker core laboratory (Bittner et al., 2016; Hansson et al., 2018).

### 2.3.4 T-status definition

#### 2.3.4.1 T-status based on visual assessment of FTP PET scans

Anonymized images were independently assessed by two raters (one nuclear medicine physician, K.P. and one behavioral neurologist, D.S.M., both with experience in interpreting brain PET scans). Raters were blinded to all clinical information, amyloid status, CSF results and SUVR quantification values. In addition, intensity normalized SUVR images were multiplied by a random factor to ensure blinding to SUVR values during interpretation. Images were viewed on MRIcron (https://www.nitrc.org/projects/mricron) using the NIH color scale. Raters manually thresholded

images to adjust contrast so that inferior cerebellar gray matter appeared as pale green to light blue (roughly equivalent to an upper threshold of 2.2-2.5 SUVR). A total of 47 scans (randomly sampled) were duplicated and were read twice by each rater to assess intra-rater reliability.

Visual assessment was based on *a priori* criteria (Figure 1), previously described (Sonni et al., *under review)*. Images were assigned T+ status if there was an AD-like pattern of binding (i.e. moderate-to-intense signal in the parieto-temporal cortex, following typical Braak and Braak distribution)(Braak & Braak, 1991; Schwarz et al., 2016) or if there was significant, confluent binding restricted to the temporal lobes. A T- status was assigned if the FTP was within normal limits (including within the expected range of off-target binding for this tracer(Baker et al., 2019; Lowe et al., 2016)) or was suggestive of a non-AD pattern of binding (for example, extensive binding in the frontal white matter). This visual interpretation scheme is similar although not identical to the approach described by Fleisher et al. that received FDA regulatory approval(Fleisher et al., 2020).



Figure 1. - Rating scheme for visual assessment of FTP pattern of binding to define T-status.

Normal pattern of binding and non-AD-like pattern (for example, mild-to-moderate signal in the frontal white matter) were assigned T-status. Classic AD-like pattern following Braak and Braak distribution extending beyond the temporal lobes, and mild temporal binding (confluent binding restricted to the temporal lobes) were assigned T+ status In case of discordance in T-status between the two raters, consensus was obtained from a third independent rater (radiologist O.L.S. or neurologist R.S. with experience in interpreting FTP PET), blinded to all clinical information and to the interpretation of the other two raters. In such cases, the majority (two out of three) T-status was used.

#### 2.3.4.2 T-status based on FTP SUVR quantification

A bilateral weighted average SUVR from a composite temporal meta-ROI (amygdala, entorhinal, fusiform, parahippocampal, inferior temporal and middle temporal regions) was calculated based on Freesurfer-parcellated regions as previously published(Jack et al., 2017; Maass et al., 2017; Ossenkoppele et al., 2018). A scan with a meta-ROI SUVR value >1.27 was considered T+, based on previously published data in an independent cohort from Gangnam Severance Hospital in Seoul, South Korea (threshold defined comparing Aβ+AD vs controls)(Ossenkoppele et al., 2018).

### 2.3.4.3 T-status based on CSF PTau181

For binary T-status based on CSF PTau181, we derived a cutoff from an independent ADNI cohort with available results on the Elecsys Phospho-Tau (181P) assay. This was done by estimating a threshold comparing A $\beta$ +AD subjects (n=183) vs. controls (independent of amyloid status, n=404) with a Receiver Operating Characteristic analysis, mirroring the methodology of the previously published threshold used for the temporal meta-ROI SUVR(Ossenkoppele et al., 2018). Using Youden Index, a cutoff value of 24.5 pg/mL was found (sensitivity 0.70, specificity 0.84, area under the curve 0.83 (95%CI 0.80-0.87)).

#### 2.3.4.4 Statistical analyses

For visual assessment of FTP, analysis of intra- and inter-rater agreement was performed using Cohen's kappa statistic. To evaluate concordance between PET-based and CSF-based T-status, overall percent agreement (OPA) was used. For evaluation of diagnostic performance by modality, accuracy in the study sample is provided, along with estimated area-under-the-curve (AUC, calculated as sensitivity + specificity/2), to provide a metric that is not biased by the prevalence estimate in the sample. Between groups comparison were performed using Kruskall-

Wallis H test for continuous variables and  $X^2$  for nominal variables. Statistical significance was considered for p<0.05. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (version 25, IBM, Armonk, NY).

# 2.4 Results

Patient characteristics can be found in Table 4<sup>1</sup>. The cohort consisted of 127 cognitively normal (CN) participants, 106 MCI subjects, 84 AD<sub>c</sub> patients and 34 patients with non-AD disorders. There was a statistically significant difference in age, sex, education, MMSE and rate of A $\beta$  positivity between diagnostic groups. The distribution of CSF PTau181 and FTP SUVR by clinical diagnosis can be found in Supplementary Figure 2.

	CN ( <i>n</i> = 127)	MCI ( <i>n</i> = 106)	$AD_{c} (n = 84)$	Non-AD $(n = 34)$	p value
Age	$73.9\pm6.8$	$71.7 \pm 9.0$	$66.1 \pm 9.2$	$65.3 \pm 9.7$	$p \leq .001^{\dagger}$
Sex (M, %)	45 (35%)	47 (44%)	44 (52%)	20 (59%)	p = .03
Education	$14.9 \pm 3.8$	$15.8 \pm 3.0$	$15.5 \pm 3.5$	$17.4 \pm 4.2$	$p = .004^{\dagger \dagger}$
MMSE	$29.2\pm1.0$	$27.0 \pm 2.7$	$20.9\pm\!4.8$	$25.2 \pm 6.3$	$p < .001^{\dagger \dagger \dagger}$
Amyloid status (Aβ+, %)	48 (38%)	61 (58%)	81 (96%)	6 (18%)	<i>p</i> < .001
Provenance	UCSF ADRC 0 ADNI 80 BioFINDER 47	UCSF ADRC 15 ADNI 83 BioFINDER 8	UCSF ADRC 50 ADNI 16 BioFINDER 18	UCSF ADRC 33 ADNI 0 BioFINDER 1	

Table 4. - Patient characteristics.

Mean ± SD is indicated for continuous variables. CN cognitively normal, MCI mild cognitive impairment, ADc Alzheimer's disease dementia, non-ADc non-AD disorders (including patients with clinical diagnoses of behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia, non-fluent variant primary progressive aphasia, progressive supranuclear palsy, corticobasal syndrome, dementia with Lewy bodies, and one subject with chronic traumatic encephalopathy)

+ Significant for all pairwise comparisons except CN vs MCI (p = .26) and AD vs non-AD (p = 1.00)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Table numbers have been modified from the original article to match order of thesis manuscript

*t†* Pairwise comparisons significant only between CN and non-AD (p = .002)

*+++* Significant for all pairwise comparisons except MCI vs non-AD (p = 1.00)

### 2.4.1 Reliability of FTP visual assessment

Using the visual rating scheme for determination of binary T-status on FTP, intra-rater reliability (n=47) for rater 1 was  $\kappa$ =0.87 (95%Cl 0.73-1.00) and for rater 2 was  $\kappa$ =0.78 (95%Cl 0.59-0.96). Overall percent agreement (n=351) was 84%, with 57 cases requiring consensus read from the third rater (Supplementary Figure 3). Inter-rater reliability in the overall sample was  $\kappa$ =0.64 (95%Cl 0.56-0.72), and  $\kappa$ =0.79 (95%Cl 0.40-1.00) for scans of participants with AD<sub>c</sub>.

### 2.4.2 T-status by modality and clinical diagnosis

Overall, FTP visual reads yielded the highest rates of T+ (Figure 2). This was true across clinical diagnoses, and for A $\beta$ + and A $\beta$ - participants, with the exception of A $\beta$ - non-AD dementia. T+ as defined by SUVR increased progressively from CN to MCI to AD<sub>c</sub> and showed the lowest rates of T+ in A $\beta$ - participants. T+ designation by CSF PTau181 was intermediate between FTP visual reads and SUVR values in CN, similar to SUVR in MCI, and lower in AD<sub>c</sub>. CSF PTau181 generally yielded lower rates of T+ than FTP visual reads in A $\beta$ - participants, and yielded zero T+ designations in the A $\beta$ - AD<sub>c</sub> category (likely clinical misdiagnosis of AD).



*Figure 2. - Percentage of T+ by modality, clinical diagnosis, and amyloid status.* 

CN, cognitively normal; MCI, mild cognitive impairment; ADc, Alzheimer's disease dementia; non-AD, non-AD disorders

### 2.4.3 Concordance in T-status between modalities

Figure 3 shows four representative cases with discordance in T-status between at least one modality pair. These examples illustrate the potential advantage of integrating visual assessment of tau PET, which in early cases could detect subtle increased binding in a classic AD-pattern, or significant binding outside of the target ROI, which were missed by SUVR quantification (first, second and fourth rows in Figure 3). The third case (A $\beta$ -) illustrates false-positive near-threshold SUVR quantification, with non-AD binding pattern upon visual assessment (predominant binding in the frontal white matter), as we know that FTP may show subtle increased signal in cases with non-AD pathology (Josephs et al., 2016; Tsai et al., 2019; Utianski et al., 2018).



Figure 3. - Examples of discordant T-status between FTP visual assessment, SUVR quantification, and CSF PTau181.

Selected axial slices of FTP are shown. Amyloid status is based on PET. Clinical diagnosis is indicated in parentheses. bvFTD, behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia; CBS, corticobasal syndrome

T-status was concordant between all three modalities in 206 participants (59%). Overall percent agreement between modality pairs ranged from 68% to 76% in the whole cohort, with lowest overall agreement between FTP visual read and CSF PTau181 (Figure 4). FTP SUVR and CSF PTau181 showed consistently high agreement in CN, MCI and ADc, whereas agreement between

FTP SUVR and visual reads increased with clinical impairment and was nearly perfect (95%) in ADc. In non-AD dementia, concordance was lowest between FTP SUVR and CSF pTau181.



*Figure 4. - Inter-modality overall percent agreement between modalities by clinical diagnosis.* 

CN, cognitively normal; MCI, mild cognitive impairment; AD<sub>c</sub>, Alzheimer's disease dementia; non-AD, non-AD disorders

There was a significant positive correlation between continuous measures of CSF PTau181 and FTP SUVR (r= 0.61, p< .001; Figure 5). Nearly all patients who were T+ on FTP SUVR were also T+ on visual assessment, while half of the patients who were T+ on CSF PTau181 and T- on FTP SUVR quantification were T+ on visual assessment (Figure 5, top left quadrant). Details of positive and negative percent agreement between modalities can be found in Supplementary Table 3.



Figure 5. - Scatter plot of CSF PTau181 and FTP SUVR values in T+ and T- patients by FTP visual assessment.

Dotted lines show threshold of positivity for CSF PTau181 and FTP temporal meta-ROI SUVR. Insert in the top right corner shows percentage of T+ cases by visual assessment for each quadrant of the scatterplot

### 2.4.4 Factors associated with a discordance in T-status

When comparing patients with concordant T-status across all three modalities to patients with discordance in at least one modality pair (Table 5), patients with a discordance in T-status were significantly older, were more likely to be male, and had intermediate rates of Aß positivity, mean

CSF PTau181 and FTP SUVR values. CN A $\beta$ + participants were disproportionally represented in this group (67%) and were nearly always T+ on CSF and/or FTP visual assessment, while negative on SUVR quantification. 27% of A $\beta$ + AD<sub>c</sub> patients were also found in this category, nearly all of whom were positive on both measures of tau PET but negative on CSF PTau181.

	Concordant T– $(n = 99)$	Concordant T+ ( $n = 107$ )	Discordant T status ( $n = 145$ )	p value*
Age	68.1±8.3	68.4±9.3	$73.7 \pm 8.5$	<i>p</i> < .001 <sup>†</sup>
Sex (M, %)	39 (39%)	39 (36%)	78 (54%)	<i>p</i> = .01
Education	$15.6 \pm 3.9$	$15.4 \pm 3.3$	$15.5 \pm 3.6$	<i>p</i> = .83
MMSE	$28.3 \pm 2.5$	$23.2 \pm 5.0$	$26.9 \pm 4.6$	$p < .001^{\dagger}$
Amyloid status (Aβ+, %)	14 (14%)	106 (99%)	76 (52%)	<i>p</i> < .001
CSF PTau181 (pg/mL)	$16.1 \pm 4.2$	$42.4 \pm 16.6$	$23.2\pm8.5$	<i>p</i> < .001
FTP SUVR	$1.14 \pm 0.1$	$1.97\pm0.5$	$1.28 \pm 0.3$	<i>p</i> < .001
Diagnosis (% Aβ+)	52 CN (15%) 23 MCI (17%) 2 AD <sub>c</sub> (0%) 22 non–AD (9%)	9 CN (89%) 38 MCI (100%) 59 AD <sub>c</sub> (100%) 1 non-AD (100%)	66 CN (48%) 45 MCI (42%) 23 AD <sub>c</sub> (96%) 11 non-AD (27%)	<i>p</i> < .001

 Table 5. - Comparison of subjects with concordant T-status across all modalities and subjects with
 discordant T-status in at least one modality pair.

Mean ± SD is shown for continuous variables.

\*p values shown for Kruskal-Wallis H test for continuous variables, and x2 for nominal variables

*+* Bonferroni-corrected p values for pairwise comparisons are all < .001 except; T- vs discordant T for age

(p = 1.0), and T- vs discordant T for MMSE (p = .06)

In subjects who had a discordant T-status in at least one modality pair, the mean CSF PTau181 and FTP SUVR values were very close to the cutoff used for binary classification. For visual assessment of FTP, cases requiring consensus from a third rater tended to have lower values of both CSF PTau181 (mean 20.7 pg/L) and FTP SUVR (mean 1.15) (Supplementary Figure 4).

Focusing on patients with clinical diagnosis of AD (n=84), there was no significant difference in global cognition (MMSE) between participants who were CSF T+ ( $^{71\%}$ ) and T- ( $^{29\%}$ ) (p= .40,

Supplementary Table 4). Average FTP SUVR was higher in T+ CSF patients compared to T- (p<0.001).

### 2.4.5 Sensitivity and specificity of T-status for Aβ+ MCI/AD<sub>c</sub> by modality

To determine sensitivity and specificity of T-status obtained with each modality, we contrasted A $\beta$ + cognitively impaired participants (MCI or AD<sub>c</sub>) with all other subjects. Sensitivity was highest with FTP visual assessment (0.96, 95%CI 0.91-0.98), while specificity was highest with FTP SUVR quantification (0.91, 95%CI 0.87-0.95). CSF PTau181 had 0.73 sensitivity (95%CI 0.64-0.80) and 0.72 specificity (95%CI 0.65-0.78; Table 6). Overall accuracy was highest with FTP SUVR quantification (0.89, 95%CI 0.85-0.92, AUC 0.88), followed by FTP visual assessment (0.74, 95%CI 0.69-0.79, AUC 0.78) and CSF PTau181 (0.72, 95%CI 0.67-0.77, AUC 0.73).

	FTP visual assessment	FTP SUVR quantification	CSF PTau181
Gold standard: clinical	( <i>n</i> = 351)		
Sensitivity	0.96 (0.91–0.98)	0.85 (0.78–0.91)	0.73 (0.64–0.80)
Specificity	0.60 (0.53-0.67)	0.91 (0.87–0.95)	0.72 (0.65–0.78)
Gold standard: Aß stat	aus (n = 351)		
Sensitivity	0.89 (0.84–0.93)	0.68 (0.60-0.74)	0.66 (0.59-0.73)
Specificity	0.70 (0.62–0.77)	0.96 (0.92–0.99)	0.79 (0.72–0.85)
Gold standard: patholo	gy $(n = 11)$		
Sensitivity	1.00 (0.54–1.00)	0.83 (0.36–1.00)	0.50 (0.12–0.88)
Specificity	1.00 (0.48–1.00)	0.80 (0.28–0.99)	0.80 (0.28–0.99)

#### Table 6. - Sensitivity and specificity by modality

Multiple gold standard for evaluation of sensitivity and specificity were used; first, clinical gold standard (i.e., detection of A6 + MCI and AD patients vs all other subjects), second, amyloid status alone (A6 + vs A6–), and lastly, pathology in a small subsample (using moderate-to-high ADNC as gold standard). 95% CI values for sensitivity and specificity are shown in parentheses

When discriminating A $\beta$ + vs A $\beta$ - subjects regardless of clinical diagnosis or stage, overall accuracy was similar for FTP visual assessment and SUVR quantification (0.81, 95%CI 0.76-0.85, AUC 0.80)

and 0.80, 95%CI 0.76-0.84, AUC 0.82 respectively), with nominally higher sensitivity for visual assessment (0.89, 95%CI 0.84-0.93), and higher specificity for SUVR quantification (0.96, 95%CI 0.92-0.99). CSF PTau181 showed intermediate sensitivity and specificity (0.66, 95%CI 0.59-0.73 and 0.79, 95%CI 0.72-0.85, overall accuracy 0.72, 95%CI 0.67-0.77, AUC 0.73). In early clinical disease stages (Aβ+ CN and MCI participants), FTP visual assessment yielded highest sensitivity (71% and 90% respectively), compared with 21% and 70% for FTP SUVR quantification and 52% and 70% for CSF PTau181.

Autopsy was available in a subsample of 11 participants from the UCSF ADRC cohort (mean age at time of PET 63.9 years, mean PET to autopsy interval 2.7 years). Of the 11 patients, four had AD both clinically and at autopsy, five patients had non-AD disorders at autopsy and the remaining two patients had mixed AD and non-AD pathology (Supplementary Table 5). Using intermediateto-high ADNC (Montine et al., 2012) as a gold standard, the highest overall accuracy was with FTP visual assessment (1.00, 95%CI 0.72-1.00, AUC 1.00), followed by FTP SUVR quantification (0.82, 95%CI 0.48-0.98, AUC 0.82), and CSF PTau181 (0.64, 95%CI 0.31-0.89, AUC 0.65). Using pathological neurofibrillary tangle Braak stage ≥IV as a gold standard increased accuracy for CSF PTau181 (FTP visual assessment: 0.91, 95%CI 0.59-1.00, FTP SUVR quantification: 0.73, 95%CI 0.39-0.94, CSF PTau181: 0.73, 95%CI 0.39-0.94). Using a composite measure of CSF PTau181 and amyloid (PTau181/Aβ42 ratio >0.028 (Hansson et al., 2018)) also improved accuracy for detecting pathological Braak stage IV or higher (0.91, 95%CI 0.59-1.00).

## 2.5 Discussion

We compared CSF PTau181, visual assessment and SUVR quantification of FTP to define T-status in a large sample of controls and patients with neurodegenerative diseases accrued via three distinct cohort studies. Overall, we found concordance between all three modalities in 59% of participants. T-status designation varied by both modality and disease stage. FTP visual reads showed the highest sensitivity but generally lower specificity, with many Aβ- cases designated as T+, especially in CN subjects. FTP SUVR showed highest specificity, but sensitivity was low in Aβ+ CN, increasing progressively in MCI and dementia. Using our cutoff value, CSF PTau181 showed good specificity across disease stages, with high sensitivity in  $A\beta$ + CN but reaching a relative plateau in  $A\beta$ + MCI. Overall, our results support an emerging recognition that T-status is dependent on both the biomarker used (CSF versus PET) and the method of measurement. Each modality and method has strengths and weaknesses that should be considered in the design of studies employing tau biomarkers, and using a combination of biomarkers may be beneficial.

Although biomarkers of tau are used interchangeably in the AT(N) framework (Jack et al., 2016), CSF and PET do not necessarily reflect the same underlying pathological processes, and differences in the biological substrate of each modality could explain some of the discrepancies observed in our results. Specifically, CSF PTau181 may be measuring Aβ-induced changed in tau phosphorylation and secretion as measured in soluble species (Mattsson-Carlgren, Andersson, et al., 2020), while PET radiotracers bind to paired helical filaments of aggregated tau fibrils (Buerger et al., 2006). Additionally, FTP PET visual reads have been shown to reliably identify later stages of tau pathology (Braak stage V-VI)(Fleisher et al., 2020), and SUVR quantification may additionally allow detection of Braak stage IV (Lowe et al., 2016; Pontecorvo et al., 2020; Soleimani-Meigooni et al., 2020). CSF PTau181 has been proposed as an earlier marker of tau pathology (Mattsson-Carlgren, Andersson, et al., 2020), though correlations with autopsy studies are still pending.

Concordance of T-status derived from FTP visual assessment, SUVR quantification and CSF PTau181 was moderate, averaging around 70-75% between modality pairs in the whole cohort. This is in line with previously published results on the concordance between FTP SUVR quantification and CSF PTau181; for example, 83% in a cohort from UCSF using the INNO-BIA AlzBio3 CSF Ptau181 assay(La Joie et al., 2018), 65-77% in BioFINDER using (EUROIMMUN and INNOTEST)(Mattsson-Carlgren, Leuzy, et al., 2020), and 75% in a recent review of ADNI participants using the Elecsys Phospho-Tau (181P) assay (Meyer et al., 2020).

The rates of T+ and agreement between tau biomarkers varied by disease stage. It has been hypothesized that CSF PTau181 becomes positive before tau PET, and may actually decrease in late stages of AD (Fagan et al., 2014; La Joie et al., 2018; Leuzy, Cicognola, et al., 2019; Scholl et al., 2019; Toledo et al., 2013). In contrast, FTP tracks disease progression in a linear way along

disease course, which could explain discordance between the two biomarkers in advanced cases. Mattsson-Carlgren et al. found a higher percentage of T+ with CSF PTau181 compared to SUVR quantification in the inferior temporal cortex in cognitively unimpaired  $A\beta$ + subjects(Mattsson-Carlgren, Leuzy, et al., 2020), and none had significant FTP signal in Braak regions V-VI(Mattsson-Carlgren, Andersson, et al., 2020). This could explain the disproportionate number of T+ cases by CSF PTau181 and/or FTP visual assessment compared to SUVR quantification, which possibly represent early stages of the disease and may be subthreshold for quantification. In contrast, the near perfect agreement in T+ assignment between FTP visual assessment and SUVR quantification found in patients with AD<sub>c</sub> is not surprising, given the high level of signal that is generally observed in these individuals (Ossenkoppele et al., 2016; Scholl et al., 2017). The concordance with CSF PTau181 was lower, however, with around 29% AD<sub>c</sub> patients being T- on CSF. Similarly, Mattsson et al. had found that 46% of patients with AD dementia and positive tau PET had negative CSF PTau181 (Mattsson et al., 2017), although with a different assay. The lower concordance with CSF PTau181 in this patient group could be explained by differences in dynamics and longitudinal change of each modality. In our cohort, however, the AD<sub>c</sub> T- CSF patients did not have lower MMSE to suggest that they represent more advanced cases.

Our results show that FTP visual assessment is a reliable tool for defining T-status in persons with cognitive impairment. Intra- and inter-rater reliability values in our study were similar to previously described visual rating schemes by Sonni et al. (in press) and Fleisher et al. (Fleisher et al., 2020). Expertise and individual rater characteristics could certainly have influenced our results; for example, in this study reads by rater 1 were more specific, while reads by rater 2 were more sensitive. Obtaining consensus by a third rater in discordant cases, however, should limit rater effect. In addition, the pattern of mild temporal binding remains of unknown significance. While we considered it to be T+, possibly reflecting early AD pathology, other groups consider binding restricted to the medial and/or anterior temporal lobes as T- (Fleisher et al., 2020). The relatively high rate of T+ in A $\beta$ - CN subjects in our study (34%) may therefore represent "over-reading" of mild temporal signal and/or noise. However, a higher proportion of A $\beta$ + CN (71%) were visually read as T+, suggesting that there may be some visually discernable biologically meaningful signal. Further studies with histopathological correlation in cognitively unimpaired

subjects would be needed to guide visual interpretation of mild temporal signal. Modifying our visual rating scheme to consider only advanced AD-like pattern of binding as T+ would likely increase specificity at the expense of sensitivity. Off-target binding, especially in the choroid plexus or at the base of the skull, may also lead to challenges in visual interpretation of the medial temporal lobe, which may limit specificity.

Our comparative accuracy analyses showed that sensitivity for detection of  $A\beta$ + MCI or AD patients can be maximized with FTP visual assessment; however, this method yielded a higher number of T+ in A $\beta$ - participants. Focusing on the 34 A $\beta$ - subjects who were T+ on visual assessment alone, all but one were CN individuals or MCI, and the vast majority were from the ADNI cohort. Qualitatively, these subjects' scans all displayed a similar pattern of FTP binding, consisting of mild signal especially in the temporal lobes. It is known that tau pathology may accumulate in the absence of A $\beta$  in primary age-related tauopathy (PART)(Crary et al., 2014). Other groups have also described increased FTP signal in cognitively unimpaired participants, predominantly in the medial temporal lobes (Lowe et al., 2018). It is possible that visual assessment of tau PET picks up mild elevation in FTP that is not specific to underlying AD pathology, including but not limited to PART. Limiting investigation with tau PET to those subjects that are cognitively impaired or A $\beta$ +, in an attempt to limit false positive visual reads, might be appropriate.

Previous studies have reported higher sensitivity with CSF PTau181 than with FTP SUVR quantification (Meyer et al., 2020). Sensitivity and specificity values for each modality are influenced by the threshold used for binary classification. The cutoff value we used for FTP SUVR has been previously validated (Ossenkoppele et al., 2018) and is similar to those used in previous studies, with most thresholds for quantification of a temporal meta-ROI ranging from 1.2 to 1.4 SUVR (Jack et al., 2017; Maass et al., 2017; Mattsson-Carlgren, Leuzy, et al., 2020; Meyer et al., 2020; Ossenkoppele et al., 2018). Our CSF PTau181 cutoff was similar to previously published threshold with the Elecsys Phospho-Tau (181P) electrochemiluminescence immunoassay in a cohort of ADNI subjects (26.64 pg/mL), though using a different gold standard (A $\beta$ - cognitively unimpaired controls vs A $\beta$ + AD subjects) (Meyer et al., 2020) and to a proposed cutoff value of 27 pg/mL to predict cognitive decline (Blennow et al., 2019). The threshold we used was also

similar to the 95<sup>th</sup> percentile of CSF PTau181 in CN A $\beta$ - in the independent ADNI cohort from which our cutoff was derived (29.89 pg/mL, n=271). Given the distribution of CSF PTau181 and FTP SUVR values in patients with discordant T-status, we can hypothesize that near-threshold cases explain a significant proportion of disagreement between modalities. Differences in sensitivity of CSF PTau181 might also be attributed to cohort composition. For example, in the study by Meyer et al., there was a high number of cognitively unimpaired subjects (n=214) and few AD dementia patients (n=11). Finally, some authors have suggested using a ratio of PTau181 to A $\beta$ 42 (to detect A $\beta$ + subjects)(Hansson et al., 2018), which in our subsample of 11 patients with autopsy confirmed diagnosis, led to a higher accuracy of CSF PTau181 for detecting AD. However, we opted not to use this ratio for comparative analyses of T-status, since A $\beta$ 42 reflects underlying amyloid pathology and could not be directly compared to measures of tau PET alone.

Recent advances have been reported in the development and validation of plasma assays for PTau181 and PTau217 (Barthelemy et al., 2020; Janelidze, Stomrud, et al., 2020; Karikari et al., 2020; Palmqvist et al., 2020; Thijssen et al., 2020). Plasma measures capture soluble phosphorylated tau species that have crossed the blood-brain barrier and correlate with CSF PTau concentrations and tau PET signal. Early data support the notion that plasma PTau follows the trajectory of CSF PTau, changing in the preclinical disease stage in association with A $\beta$ , and reaching a relative plateau in the early symptomatic stage(Janelidze et al., 2018; Karikari et al., 2020; Lantero Rodriguez et al., 2020; O'Connor et al., 2020). Future work will determine how plasma measures of amyloid, tau and neurodegeneration compare to CSF and imaging markers in implementation of AT(N) classification in the AD Research Framework (Jack et al., 2016).

Major strengths of this study include the large number of subjects recruited from three different studies and spanning a wide range of neurodegenerative conditions, and the direct comparison of both visual and quantitative tau PET with CSF PTau measures. Furthermore, we had autopsy diagnosis available in a small sub-sample. Our study has several limitations. First, there were methodological differences between the three studies, notably in the composition of the cohorts, method of determination of amyloid status, and pre-analytic handling of CSF samples. Second, we used a visual interpretation method that was developed in-house – our method is similar but not identical to the method that has recently been validated, in particular regarding signal

restricted to the anterio-medial temporal lobes(Fleisher et al., 2020). Third, our results cannot be generalized to other tau PET tracers or CSF tau assays than the ones used in our study. Performance of both visual ratings and SUVR quantification of second-generation compounds such as MK-6240, JNJ-067 or RO-948(Leuzy, Chiotis, et al., 2019) may differ from FTP-PET. Similarly, CSF assays using different phosphorylation sites, for example PTau217 which has been shown to have high correlation with FTP(Janelidze, Stomrud, et al., 2020), may yield different estimates of accuracy and inter-modality concordance.

## 2.6 Conclusion

Biomarkers of tau, as listed in the AT(N) framework, are not interchangeable and show variable concordance depending on method of analysis and cohort. In our study, concordance of T-status derived from FTP visual assessment, SUVR quantification and CSF PTau181 varied across disease stage. An FTP visual read scheme that includes mild temporal binding maximizes sensitivity to early disease stage, including in preclinical AD, while SUVR quantification maximizes specificity. CSF PTau181 shows balanced sensitivity and specificity across the AD continuum. Each modality may offer a complementary role, and a combination of approaches may be ultimately beneficial. Recently published work has suggested measuring T as a continuous rather than binary variable may correlate better with prognosis(Mattsson-Carlgren, Leuzy, et al., 2020). Further work will be needed to compare FTP visual assessment and SUVR quantification to novel plasma biomarkers of phosphorylated tau (Karikari et al., 2020; Palmqvist et al., 2019; Thijssen et al., 2020).

#### Declarations

Acknowledgements/Funding Sources: We would like to acknowledge all patients and caregivers for their time and participation in this study. This study was supported by the National Institute on Aging grants (P30-AG062422 to B.L.M and G.D.R., P01-AG019724 to B.L.M., R01-AG-045611 to G.D.R.), Alzheimer's Association (AARF-16-443577 to R.L.J., AACSF-19-617663 to D.N.S.-M.), Rainwater Charitable Foundation (Tau Consortium) (to G.D.R. and W.J.J.). Avid Radiopharmaceuticals enabled use of the Flortaucipir tracer, and Roche Diagnostics provided the Elecsys kits for CSF analysis; Avid Radiopharmaceuticals and Roche Diagnostics did not provide direct funding and was not involved in data analysis or interpretation. COBAS, COBAS E and ELECSYS are trademarks of Roche.

Data collection and sharing for this project was funded by the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI) (National Institutes of Health Grant U01 AG024904) and DOD ADNI (Department of Defense award number W81XWH-12-2-0012). ADNI is funded by the National Institute on Aging, the National Institute of Biomedical Imaging and Bioengineering, and through generous contributions from the following: AbbVie, Alzheimer's Association; Alzheimer's Drug Discovery Foundation; Araclon Biotech; BioClinica, Inc.; Biogen; Bristol-Myers Squibb Company; CereSpir, Inc.; Cogstate; Eisai Inc.; Elan Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; Eli Lilly and Company; EuroImmun; F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd and its affiliated company Genentech, Inc.; Fujirebio; GE Healthcare; IXICO Ltd.; Janssen Alzheimer Immunotherapy Research & Development, LLC.; Johnson & Johnson Pharmaceutical Research & Development LLC.; Lumosity; Lundbeck; Merck & Co., Inc.; Meso Scale Diagnostics, LLC.; NeuroRx Research; Neurotrack Technologies; Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation; Pfizer Inc.; Piramal Imaging; Servier; Takeda Pharmaceutical Company; and Transition Therapeutics. The Canadian Institutes of Health Research is providing funds to support ADNI clinical sites in Canada. Private sector contributions are facilitated by the Foundation for the National Institutes of Health (www.fnih.org). The grantee organization is the Northern California Institute for Research and Education, and the study is coordinated by the Alzheimer's Therapeutic Research Institute at the University of Southern California. ADNI data are disseminated by the Laboratory for Neuro Imaging at the University of Southern California.

**Conflicts of interests/competing interests:** U.E. is an employee of Roche. O.H. has received research support (for the institution) from Roche, GE Healthcare, Biogen, AVID Radiopharmaceuticals, Fujirebio and Euroimmun. In the past 2 years, he has received consultancy/speaker fees (paid to the institution) from Lilly, Roche and Fujirebio. B.L.M. serves as Medical Director for the John Douglas French Foundation; Scientific Director for the Tau Consortium; Director/Medical Advisory Board of the Larry L. Hillblom Foundation; Scientific Advisory Board Member for the National Institute for Health Research Cambridge Biomedical Research Centre and its subunit, the Biomedical Research Unit in Dementia (UK); and Board Member for the American Brain Foundation. W.J. has served as a consultant to Genentech, Biogen, Bioclinica, CuraSen, and Grifols. G.D.R. receives research support from Avid Radiopharmaceuticals, GE Healthcare, and Life Molecular Imaging and has received consulting fees or speaking honoraria from Axon Neurosciences, Roche, Eisai, Genentech. All other authors have no relevant financial or non-financial interests to disclose.

**Ethics approval: t**his study was performed in line with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. The study was approved by the University of California (San Francisco and Berkeley), Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (LBNL) and the Ethical Committee of Lund University, Sweden institutional review boards for human research. Each ADNI study site received approval from its institutional ethical standards committee on human experimentation.

**Consent to participate/publish:** Written informed consent was obtained from all participants or their surrogates.

# 2.7 References

- Albert, M. S., DeKosky, S. T., Dickson, D., Dubois, B., Feldman, H. H., Fox, N. C., Gamst, A.,
  Holtzman, D. M., Jagust, W. J., Petersen, R. C., Snyder, P. J., Carrillo, M. C., Thies, B., &
  Phelps, C. H. (2011). The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's
  disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association
  workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement, 7(3),
  270-279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.008
- Armstrong, M. J., Litvan, I., Lang, A. E., Bak, T. H., Bhatia, K. P., Borroni, B., Boxer, A. L., Dickson, D. W., Grossman, M., Hallett, M., Josephs, K. A., Kertesz, A., Lee, S. E., Miller, B. L., Reich, S. G., Riley, D. E., Tolosa, E., Troster, A. I., Vidailhet, M., & Weiner, W. J. (2013). Criteria for the diagnosis of corticobasal degeneration. Neurology, 80(5), 496-503. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e31827f0fd1
- Baker, S. L., Harrison, T. M., Maass, A., La Joie, R., & Jagust, W. (2019). Effect of off-target binding on (18)F-Flortaucipir variability in healthy controls across the lifespan. J Nucl Med. https://doi.org/10.2967/jnumed.118.224113
- Baker, S. L., Maass, A., & Jagust, W. J. (2017). Considerations and code for partial volume correcting [(18)F]-AV-1451 tau PET data. Data Brief, 15, 648-657. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2017.10.024
- Barthelemy, N. R., Horie, K., Sato, C., & Bateman, R. J. (2020). Blood plasma phosphorylated-tau isoforms track CNS change in Alzheimer's disease. J Exp Med, 217(11). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20200861
- Bittner, T., Zetterberg, H., Teunissen, C. E., Ostlund, R. E., Jr., Militello, M., Andreasson, U.,
  Hubeek, I., Gibson, D., Chu, D. C., Eichenlaub, U., Heiss, P., Kobold, U., Leinenbach, A.,
  Madin, K., Manuilova, E., Rabe, C., & Blennow, K. (2016). Technical performance of a novel, fully automated electrochemiluminescence immunoassay for the quantitation of beta-amyloid (1-42) in human cerebrospinal fluid. Alzheimers Dement, 12(5), 517-526.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2015.09.009

- Blennow, K., Hampel, H., Weiner, M., & Zetterberg, H. (2010). Cerebrospinal fluid and plasma biomarkers in Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurol, 6(3), 131-144. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2010.4
- Blennow, K., Mattsson, N., Scholl, M., Hansson, O., & Zetterberg, H. (2015). Amyloid biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease. Trends Pharmacol Sci, 36(5), 297-309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2015.03.002
- Blennow, K., Shaw, L. M., Stomrud, E., Mattsson, N., Toledo, J. B., Buck, K., Wahl, S., Eichenlaub, U., Lifke, V., Simon, M., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Hansson, O. (2019). Predicting clinical decline and conversion to Alzheimer's disease or dementia using novel Elecsys Abeta(1-42), pTau and tTau CSF immunoassays. Sci Rep, 9(1), 19024. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-54204-z
- Blennow, K., & Zetterberg, H. (2018). Biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease: current status and prospects for the future. J Intern Med, 284(6), 643-663. https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.12816
- Braak, H., & Braak, E. (1991). Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. Acta Neuropathol, 82(4), 239-259. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00308809
- Brier, M. R., Gordon, B., Friedrichsen, K., McCarthy, J., Stern, A., Christensen, J., Owen, C., Aldea,
  P., Su, Y., Hassenstab, J., Cairns, N. J., Holtzman, D. M., Fagan, A. M., Morris, J. C.,
  Benzinger, T. L., & Ances, B. M. (2016). Tau and Abeta imaging, CSF measures, and
  cognition in Alzheimer's disease. Sci Transl Med, 8(338), 338ra366.
  https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf2362
- Buerger, K., Ewers, M., Pirttila, T., Zinkowski, R., Alafuzoff, I., Teipel, S. J., DeBernardis, J.,
  Kerkman, D., McCulloch, C., Soininen, H., & Hampel, H. (2006). CSF phosphorylated tau
  protein correlates with neocortical neurofibrillary pathology in Alzheimer's disease.
  Brain, 129(Pt 11), 3035-3041. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl269
- Chhatwal, J. P., Schultz, A. P., Marshall, G. A., Boot, B., Gomez-Isla, T., Dumurgier, J., LaPoint, M.,
  Scherzer, C., Roe, A. D., Hyman, B. T., Sperling, R. A., & Johnson, K. A. (2016). Temporal
  T807 binding correlates with CSF tau and phospho-tau in normal elderly. Neurology,
  87(9), 920-926. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000003050

- Crary, J. F., Trojanowski, J. Q., Schneider, J. A., Abisambra, J. F., Abner, E. L., Alafuzoff, I., Arnold, S. E., Attems, J., Beach, T. G., Bigio, E. H., Cairns, N. J., Dickson, D. W., Gearing, M., Grinberg, L. T., Hof, P. R., Hyman, B. T., Jellinger, K., Jicha, G. A., Kovacs, G. G., Knopman, D. S., Kofler, J., Kukull, W. A., Mackenzie, I. R., Masliah, E., McKee, A., Montine, T. J., Murray, M. E., Neltner, J. H., Santa-Maria, I., Seeley, W. W., Serrano-Pozo, A., Shelanski, M. L., Stein, T., Takao, M., Thal, D. R., Toledo, J. B., Troncoso, J. C., Vonsattel, J. P., White, C. L., 3rd, Wisniewski, T., Woltjer, R. L., Yamada, M., & Nelson, P. T. (2014). Primary age-related tauopathy (PART): a common pathology associated with human aging. Acta Neuropathol, 128(6), 755-766. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-014-1349-0
- Cummings, J. (2019). The National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association Framework on Alzheimer's disease: Application to clinical trials. Alzheimers Dement, 15(1), 172-178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2018.05.006
- Doecke, J. D., Ward, L., Burnham, S. C., Villemagne, V. L., Li, Q. X., Collins, S., Fowler, C. J.,
  Manuilova, E., Widmann, M., Rainey-Smith, S. R., Martins, R. N., Masters, C. L., & Group,
  A. R. (2020). Elecsys CSF biomarker immunoassays demonstrate concordance with
  amyloid-PET imaging. Alzheimers Res Ther, 12(1), 36. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13195020-00595-5
- Fagan, A. M., Mintun, M. A., Mach, R. H., Lee, S. Y., Dence, C. S., Shah, A. R., LaRossa, G. N.,
  Spinner, M. L., Klunk, W. E., Mathis, C. A., DeKosky, S. T., Morris, J. C., & Holtzman, D. M.
  (2006). Inverse relation between in vivo amyloid imaging load and cerebrospinal fluid
  Abeta42 in humans. Ann Neurol, 59(3), 512-519. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.20730
- Fagan, A. M., Xiong, C., Jasielec, M. S., Bateman, R. J., Goate, A. M., Benzinger, T. L., Ghetti, B., Martins, R. N., Masters, C. L., Mayeux, R., Ringman, J. M., Rossor, M. N., Salloway, S., Schofield, P. R., Sperling, R. A., Marcus, D., Cairns, N. J., Buckles, V. D., Ladenson, J. H., Morris, J. C., Holtzman, D. M., & Dominantly Inherited Alzheimer, N. (2014). Longitudinal change in CSF biomarkers in autosomal-dominant Alzheimer's disease. Sci Transl Med, 6(226), 226ra230. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3007901
- Fleisher, A. S., Pontecorvo, M. J., Devous, M. D., Sr., Lu, M., Arora, A. K., Truocchio, S. P., Aldea,P., Flitter, M., Locascio, T., Devine, M., Siderowf, A., Beach, T. G., Montine, T. J., Serrano,

G. E., Curtis, C., Perrin, A., Salloway, S., Daniel, M., Wellman, C., Joshi, A. D., Irwin, D. J., Lowe, V. J., Seeley, W. W., Ikonomovic, M. D., Masdeu, J. C., Kennedy, I., Harris, T., Navitsky, M., Southekal, S., Mintun, M. A., & Investigators, A. S. (2020). Positron Emission Tomography Imaging With [18F]flortaucipir and Postmortem Assessment of Alzheimer Disease Neuropathologic Changes. JAMA Neurol. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.0528

- Gordon, B. A., Friedrichsen, K., Brier, M., Blazey, T., Su, Y., Christensen, J., Aldea, P., McConathy, J., Holtzman, D. M., Cairns, N. J., Morris, J. C., Fagan, A. M., Ances, B. M., & Benzinger, T. L. (2016). The relationship between cerebrospinal fluid markers of Alzheimer pathology and positron emission tomography tau imaging. Brain, 139(Pt 8), 2249-2260. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aww139
- Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Hillis, A. E., Weintraub, S., Kertesz, A., Mendez, M., Cappa, S. F., Ogar, J. M., Rohrer, J. D., Black, S., Boeve, B. F., Manes, F., Dronkers, N. F., Vandenberghe, R., Rascovsky, K., Patterson, K., Miller, B. L., Knopman, D. S., Hodges, J. R., Mesulam, M. M., & Grossman, M. (2011). Classification of primary progressive aphasia and its variants. Neurology, 76(11), 1006-1014. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e31821103e6
- Hansson, O., Seibyl, J., Stomrud, E., Zetterberg, H., Trojanowski, J. Q., Bittner, T., Lifke, V.,
  Corradini, V., Eichenlaub, U., Batrla, R., Buck, K., Zink, K., Rabe, C., Blennow, K., Shaw, L.
  M., Swedish Bio, F. s. g., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2018). CSF biomarkers of Alzheimer's disease concord with amyloid-beta PET and predict clinical progression: A study of fully automated immunoassays in BioFINDER and ADNI cohorts. Alzheimers Dement, 14(11), 1470-1481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2018.01.010
- Hoglinger, G. U., Respondek, G., Stamelou, M., Kurz, C., Josephs, K. A., Lang, A. E., Mollenhauer,
  B., Muller, U., Nilsson, C., Whitwell, J. L., Arzberger, T., Englund, E., Gelpi, E., Giese, A.,
  Irwin, D. J., Meissner, W. G., Pantelyat, A., Rajput, A., van Swieten, J. C., Troakes, C.,
  Antonini, A., Bhatia, K. P., Bordelon, Y., Compta, Y., Corvol, J. C., Colosimo, C., Dickson, D.
  W., Dodel, R., Ferguson, L., Grossman, M., Kassubek, J., Krismer, F., Levin, J., Lorenzl, S.,
  Morris, H. R., Nestor, P., Oertel, W. H., Poewe, W., Rabinovici, G., Rowe, J. B.,
  Schellenberg, G. D., Seppi, K., van Eimeren, T., Wenning, G. K., Boxer, A. L., Golbe, L. I.,

Litvan, I., & Movement Disorder Society-endorsed, P. S. P. S. G. (2017). Clinical diagnosis of progressive supranuclear palsy: The movement disorder society criteria. Mov Disord, 32(6), 853-864. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.26987

- Jack, C. R., Jr., Bennett, D. A., Blennow, K., Carrillo, M. C., Feldman, H. H., Frisoni, G. B., Hampel, H., Jagust, W. J., Johnson, K. A., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., Scheltens, P., Sperling, R. A., & Dubois, B. (2016). A/T/N: An unbiased descriptive classification scheme for Alzheimer disease biomarkers. Neurology, 87(5), 539-547. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000002923
- Jack, C. R., Jr., Therneau, T. M., Weigand, S. D., Wiste, H. J., Knopman, D. S., Vemuri, P., Lowe, V.
  J., Mielke, M. M., Roberts, R. O., Machulda, M. M., Graff-Radford, J., Jones, D. T.,
  Schwarz, C. G., Gunter, J. L., Senjem, M. L., Rocca, W. A., & Petersen, R. C. (2019).
  Prevalence of Biologically vs Clinically Defined Alzheimer Spectrum Entities Using the
  National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association Research Framework. JAMA Neurol.
  https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.1971
- Jack, C. R., Jr., Wiste, H. J., Weigand, S. D., Therneau, T. M., Lowe, V. J., Knopman, D. S., Gunter,
  J. L., Senjem, M. L., Jones, D. T., Kantarci, K., Machulda, M. M., Mielke, M. M., Roberts, R.
  O., Vemuri, P., Reyes, D. A., & Petersen, R. C. (2017). Defining imaging biomarker cut
  points for brain aging and Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement, 13(3), 205-216.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2016.08.005
- Janelidze, S., Mattsson, N., Stomrud, E., Lindberg, O., Palmqvist, S., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., & Hansson, O. (2018). CSF biomarkers of neuroinflammation and cerebrovascular dysfunction in early Alzheimer disease. Neurology, 91(9), e867-e877. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000006082
- Janelidze, S., Stomrud, E., Smith, R., Palmqvist, S., Mattsson, N., Airey, D. C., Proctor, N. K., Chai,
  X., Shcherbinin, S., Sims, J. R., Triana-Baltzer, G., Theunis, C., Slemmon, R., Mercken, M.,
  Kolb, H., Dage, J. L., & Hansson, O. (2020). Cerebrospinal fluid p-tau217 performs better
  than p-tau181 as a biomarker of Alzheimer's disease. Nat Commun, 11(1), 1683.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-15436-0

- Josephs, K. A., Whitwell, J. L., Tacik, P., Duffy, J. R., Senjem, M. L., Tosakulwong, N., Jack, C. R., Lowe, V., Dickson, D. W., & Murray, M. E. (2016). [18F]AV-1451 tau-PET uptake does correlate with quantitatively measured 4R-tau burden in autopsy-confirmed corticobasal degeneration. Acta Neuropathol, 132(6), 931-933. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-016-1618-1
- Karikari, T. K., Pascoal, T. A., Ashton, N. J., Janelidze, S., Benedet, A. L., Rodriguez, J. L.,
  Chamoun, M., Savard, M., Kang, M. S., Therriault, J., Scholl, M., Massarweh, G., Soucy, J.
  P., Hoglund, K., Brinkmalm, G., Mattsson, N., Palmqvist, S., Gauthier, S., Stomrud, E.,
  Zetterberg, H., Hansson, O., Rosa-Neto, P., & Blennow, K. (2020). Blood phosphorylated
  tau 181 as a biomarker for Alzheimer's disease: a diagnostic performance and prediction
  modelling study using data from four prospective cohorts. Lancet Neurol, 19(5), 422-433.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(20)30071-5
- La Joie, R., Bejanin, A., Fagan, A. M., Ayakta, N., Baker, S. L., Bourakova, V., Boxer, A. L., Cha, J.,
  Karydas, A., Jerome, G., Maass, A., Mensing, A., Miller, Z. A., O'Neil, J. P., Pham, J., Rosen,
  H. J., Tsai, R., Visani, A. V., Miller, B. L., Jagust, W. J., & Rabinovici, G. D. (2018).
  Associations between [(18)F]AV1451 tau PET and CSF measures of tau pathology in a clinical sample. Neurology, 90(4), e282-e290.

https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000004860

- Lantero Rodriguez, J., Karikari, T. K., Suarez-Calvet, M., Troakes, C., King, A., Emersic, A., Aarsland, D., Hye, A., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., & Ashton, N. J. (2020). Plasma ptau181 accurately predicts Alzheimer's disease pathology at least 8 years prior to postmortem and improves the clinical characterisation of cognitive decline. Acta Neuropathol. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-020-02195-x
- Leuzy, A., Chiotis, K., Lemoine, L., Gillberg, P. G., Almkvist, O., Rodriguez-Vieitez, E., & Nordberg,
   A. (2019). Tau PET imaging in neurodegenerative tauopathies-still a challenge. Mol
   Psychiatry, 24(8), 1112-1134. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-018-0342-8
- Leuzy, A., Cicognola, C., Chiotis, K., Saint-Aubert, L., Lemoine, L., Andreasen, N., Zetterberg, H., Ye, K., Blennow, K., Hoglund, K., & Nordberg, A. (2019). Longitudinal tau and metabolic

PET imaging in relation to novel CSF tau measures in Alzheimer's disease. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging, 46(5), 1152-1163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00259-018-4242-6

- Lifke, V., Kollmorgen, G., Manuilova, E., Oelschlaegel, T., Hillringhaus, L., Widmann, M., von Arnim, C. A. F., Otto, M., Christenson, R. H., Powers, J. L., Shaw, L. M., Hansson, O., Doecke, J. D., Li, Q. X., Teunissen, C., Tumani, H., & Blennow, K. (2019). Elecsys((R)) Total-Tau and Phospho-Tau (181P) CSF assays: Analytical performance of the novel, fully automated immunoassays for quantification of tau proteins in human cerebrospinal fluid. Clin Biochem. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2019.05.005
- Litvan, I., Agid, Y., Calne, D., Campbell, G., Dubois, B., Duvoisin, R. C., Goetz, C. G., Golbe, L. I., Grafman, J., Growdon, J. H., Hallett, M., Jankovic, J., Quinn, N. P., Tolosa, E., & Zee, D. S. (1996). Clinical research criteria for the diagnosis of progressive supranuclear palsy (Steele-Richardson-Olszewski syndrome): report of the NINDS-SPSP international workshop. Neurology, 47(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.47.1.1
- Lowe, V. J., Bruinsma, T. J., Min, H. K., Lundt, E. S., Fang, P., Senjem, M. L., Boeve, B. F., Josephs, K. A., Pandey, M. K., Murray, M. E., Kantarci, K., Jones, D. T., Schwarz, C. G., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., & Jack, C. R., Jr. (2018). Elevated medial temporal lobe and pervasive brain tau-PET signal in normal participants. Alzheimers Dement (Amst), 10, 210-216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dadm.2018.01.005
- Lowe, V. J., Curran, G., Fang, P., Liesinger, A. M., Josephs, K. A., Parisi, J. E., Kantarci, K., Boeve,
  B. F., Pandey, M. K., Bruinsma, T., Knopman, D. S., Jones, D. T., Petrucelli, L., Cook, C. N.,
  Graff-Radford, N. R., Dickson, D. W., Petersen, R. C., Jack, C. R., Jr., & Murray, M. E.
  (2016). An autoradiographic evaluation of AV-1451 Tau PET in dementia. Acta
  Neuropathol Commun, 4(1), 58. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-016-0315-6
- Maass, A., Landau, S., Baker, S. L., Horng, A., Lockhart, S. N., La Joie, R., Rabinovici, G. D., Jagust, W. J., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2017). Comparison of multiple tau-PET measures as biomarkers in aging and Alzheimer's disease. Neuroimage, 157, 448-463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.05.058

- Marquie, M., Normandin, M. D., Vanderburg, C. R., Costantino, I. M., Bien, E. A., Rycyna, L. G.,
  Klunk, W. E., Mathis, C. A., Ikonomovic, M. D., Debnath, M. L., Vasdev, N., Dickerson, B.
  C., Gomperts, S. N., Growdon, J. H., Johnson, K. A., Frosch, M. P., Hyman, B. T., & GomezIsla, T. (2015). Validating novel tau positron emission tomography tracer [F-18]-AV-1451
  (T807) on postmortem brain tissue. Ann Neurol, 78(5), 787-800.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24517
- Mattsson, N., Scholl, M., Strandberg, O., Smith, R., Palmqvist, S., Insel, P. S., Hagerstrom, D.,
  Ohlsson, T., Zetterberg, H., Jogi, J., Blennow, K., & Hansson, O. (2017). (18)F-AV-1451 and
  CSF T-tau and P-tau as biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease. EMBO Mol Med, 9(9), 12121223. https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201707809
- Mattsson, N., Smith, R., Strandberg, O., Palmqvist, S., Scholl, M., Insel, P. S., Hagerstrom, D.,
  Ohlsson, T., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., Jogi, J., & Hansson, O. (2018). Comparing (18)FAV-1451 with CSF t-tau and p-tau for diagnosis of Alzheimer disease. Neurology, 90(5),
  e388-e395. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000004887
- Mattsson-Carlgren, N., Andersson, E., Janelidze, S., Ossenkoppele, R., Insel, P., Strandberg, O.,
  Zetterberg, H., Rosen, H. J., Rabinovici, G., Chai, X., Blennow, K., Dage, J. L., Stomrud, E.,
  Smith, R., Palmqvist, S., & Hansson, O. (2020). Abeta deposition is associated with
  increases in soluble and phosphorylated tau that precede a positive Tau PET in
  Alzheimer's disease. Sci Adv, 6(16), eaaz2387. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaz2387
- Mattsson-Carlgren, N., Leuzy, A., Janelidze, S., Palmqvist, S., Stomrud, E., Strandberg, O., Smith,
   R., & Hansson, O. (2020). The implications of different approaches to define AT(N) in
   Alzheimer disease. Neurology. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000009485
- McKeith, I. G., Boeve, B. F., Dickson, D. W., Halliday, G., Taylor, J. P., Weintraub, D., Aarsland, D., Galvin, J., Attems, J., Ballard, C. G., Bayston, A., Beach, T. G., Blanc, F., Bohnen, N., Bonanni, L., Bras, J., Brundin, P., Burn, D., Chen-Plotkin, A., Duda, J. E., El-Agnaf, O., Feldman, H., Ferman, T. J., Ffytche, D., Fujishiro, H., Galasko, D., Goldman, J. G., Gomperts, S. N., Graff-Radford, N. R., Honig, L. S., Iranzo, A., Kantarci, K., Kaufer, D., Kukull, W., Lee, V. M. Y., Leverenz, J. B., Lewis, S., Lippa, C., Lunde, A., Masellis, M., Masliah, E., McLean, P., Mollenhauer, B., Montine, T. J., Moreno, E., Mori, E., Murray,

M., O'Brien, J. T., Orimo, S., Postuma, R. B., Ramaswamy, S., Ross, O. A., Salmon, D. P., Singleton, A., Taylor, A., Thomas, A., Tiraboschi, P., Toledo, J. B., Trojanowski, J. Q., Tsuang, D., Walker, Z., Yamada, M., & Kosaka, K. (2017). Diagnosis and management of dementia with Lewy bodies: Fourth consensus report of the DLB Consortium. Neurology, 89(1), 88-100. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0000000000004058

- McKhann, G. M., Knopman, D. S., Chertkow, H., Hyman, B. T., Jack, C. R., Jr., Kawas, C. H., Klunk,
  W. E., Koroshetz, W. J., Manly, J. J., Mayeux, R., Mohs, R. C., Morris, J. C., Rossor, M. N.,
  Scheltens, P., Carrillo, M. C., Thies, B., Weintraub, S., & Phelps, C. H. (2011). The
  diagnosis of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National
  Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for
  Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement, 7(3), 263-269.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.005
- Meyer, P. F., Binette, A. P., Gonneaud, J., Breitner, J. C. S., & Villeneuve, S. (2020).
   Characterization of Alzheimer Disease Biomarker Discrepancies Using Cerebrospinal
   Fluid Phosphorylated Tau and AV1451 Positron Emission Tomography. JAMA Neurol.
   https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.4749
- Montine, T. J., Phelps, C. H., Beach, T. G., Bigio, E. H., Cairns, N. J., Dickson, D. W., Duyckaerts, C., Frosch, M. P., Masliah, E., Mirra, S. S., Nelson, P. T., Schneider, J. A., Thal, D. R., Trojanowski, J. Q., Vinters, H. V., Hyman, B. T., National Institute on, A., & Alzheimer's, A. (2012). National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association guidelines for the neuropathologic assessment of Alzheimer's disease: a practical approach. Acta Neuropathol, 123(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-011-0910-3
- O'Connor, A., Karikari, T. K., Poole, T., Ashton, N. J., Lantero Rodriguez, J., Khatun, A., Swift, I., Heslegrave, A. J., Abel, E., Chung, E., Weston, P. S. J., Pavisic, I. M., Ryan, N. S., Barker, S., Rossor, M. N., Polke, J. M., Frost, C., Mead, S., Blennow, K., Zetterberg, H., & Fox, N. C. (2020). Plasma phospho-tau181 in presymptomatic and symptomatic familial Alzheimer's disease: a longitudinal cohort study. Mol Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-020-0838-x

- Oh, M., Kim, J. S., Oh, J. S., Lee, C. S., & Chung, S. J. (2017). Different subregional metabolism patterns in patients with cerebellar ataxia by 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography. PLoS One, 12(3), e0173275. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173275
- Okafor, M., Nye, J. A., Shokouhi, M., Shaw, L. M., Goldstein, F., & Hajjar, I. (2020). 18F-Flortaucipir PET Associations with Cerebrospinal Fluid, Cognition, and Neuroimaging in Mild Cognitive Impairment due to Alzheimer's Disease. J Alzheimers Dis, 74(2), 589-601. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-191330
- Olsson, B., Lautner, R., Andreasson, U., Ohrfelt, A., Portelius, E., Bjerke, M., Holtta, M., Rosen, C., Olsson, C., Strobel, G., Wu, E., Dakin, K., Petzold, M., Blennow, K., & Zetterberg, H. (2016). CSF and blood biomarkers for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Neurol, 15(7), 673-684. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(16)00070-3
- Ossenkoppele, R., Rabinovici, G. D., Smith, R., Cho, H., Scholl, M., Strandberg, O., Palmqvist, S.,
  Mattsson, N., Janelidze, S., Santillo, A., Ohlsson, T., Jogi, J., Tsai, R., La Joie, R., Kramer, J.,
  Boxer, A. L., Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Miller, B. L., Choi, J. Y., Ryu, Y. H., Lyoo, C. H., &
  Hansson, O. (2018). Discriminative Accuracy of [18F]flortaucipir Positron Emission
  Tomography for Alzheimer Disease vs Other Neurodegenerative Disorders. JAMA,
  320(11), 1151-1162. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.12917
- Ossenkoppele, R., Schonhaut, D. R., Scholl, M., Lockhart, S. N., Ayakta, N., Baker, S. L., O'Neil, J.
  P., Janabi, M., Lazaris, A., Cantwell, A., Vogel, J., Santos, M., Miller, Z. A., Bettcher, B. M.,
  Vossel, K. A., Kramer, J. H., Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Miller, B. L., Jagust, W. J., & Rabinovici,
  G. D. (2016). Tau PET patterns mirror clinical and neuroanatomical variability in
  Alzheimer's disease. Brain, 139(Pt 5), 1551-1567. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aww027
- Palmqvist, S., Janelidze, S., Quiroz, Y. T., Zetterberg, H., Lopera, F., Stomrud, E., Su, Y., Chen, Y., Serrano, G. E., Leuzy, A., Mattsson-Carlgren, N., Strandberg, O., Smith, R., Villegas, A., Sepulveda-Falla, D., Chai, X., Proctor, N. K., Beach, T. G., Blennow, K., Dage, J. L., Reiman, E. M., & Hansson, O. (2020). Discriminative Accuracy of Plasma Phospho-tau217 for Alzheimer Disease vs Other Neurodegenerative Disorders. JAMA. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.12134

- Palmqvist, S., Janelidze, S., Stomrud, E., Zetterberg, H., Karl, J., Zink, K., Bittner, T., Mattsson, N.,
  Eichenlaub, U., Blennow, K., & Hansson, O. (2019). Performance of Fully Automated
  Plasma Assays as Screening Tests for Alzheimer Disease-Related beta-Amyloid Status.
  JAMA Neurol. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.1632
- Pontecorvo, M. J., Keene, C. D., Beach, T. G., Montine, T. J., Arora, A. K., Devous, M. D., Sr., Navitsky, M., Kennedy, I., Joshi, A. D., Lu, M., Serrano, G. E., Sue, L. I., Intorcia, A. J., Rose, S. E., Wilson, A., Hellstern, L., Coleman, N., Flitter, M., Aldea, P., Fleisher, A. S., Mintun, M. A., & Siderowf, A. (2020). Comparison of regional flortaucipir PET with quantitative tau immunohistochemistry in three subjects with Alzheimer's disease pathology: a clinicopathological study. EJNMMI Res, 10(1), 65. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13550-020-00653-x
- Rascovsky, K., Hodges, J. R., Knopman, D., Mendez, M. F., Kramer, J. H., Neuhaus, J., van Swieten, J. C., Seelaar, H., Dopper, E. G., Onyike, C. U., Hillis, A. E., Josephs, K. A., Boeve, B. F., Kertesz, A., Seeley, W. W., Rankin, K. P., Johnson, J. K., Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Rosen, H., Prioleau-Latham, C. E., Lee, A., Kipps, C. M., Lillo, P., Piguet, O., Rohrer, J. D., Rossor, M. N., Warren, J. D., Fox, N. C., Galasko, D., Salmon, D. P., Black, S. E., Mesulam, M., Weintraub, S., Dickerson, B. C., Diehl-Schmid, J., Pasquier, F., Deramecourt, V., Lebert, F., Pijnenburg, Y., Chow, T. W., Manes, F., Grafman, J., Cappa, S. F., Freedman, M., Grossman, M., & Miller, B. L. (2011). Sensitivity of revised diagnostic criteria for the behavioural variant of frontotemporal dementia. Brain, 134(Pt 9), 2456-2477. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awr179
- Roman, G. C., Tatemichi, T. K., Erkinjuntti, T., Cummings, J. L., Masdeu, J. C., Garcia, J. H.,
  Amaducci, L., Orgogozo, J. M., Brun, A., Hofman, A., & et al. (1993). Vascular dementia:
  diagnostic criteria for research studies. Report of the NINDS-AIREN International
  Workshop. Neurology, 43(2), 250-260. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.43.2.250
- Scholl, M., Maass, A., Mattsson, N., Ashton, N. J., Blennow, K., Zetterberg, H., & Jagust, W. (2019). Biomarkers for tau pathology. Mol Cell Neurosci, 97, 18-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2018.12.001

- Scholl, M., Ossenkoppele, R., Strandberg, O., Palmqvist, S., Swedish Bio, F. s., Jogi, J., Ohlsson, T.,
  Smith, R., & Hansson, O. (2017). Distinct 18F-AV-1451 tau PET retention patterns in
  early- and late-onset Alzheimer's disease. Brain, 140(9), 2286-2294.
  https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awx171
- Schwarz, A. J., Yu, P., Miller, B. B., Shcherbinin, S., Dickson, J., Navitsky, M., Joshi, A. D., Devous,
  M. D., Sr., & Mintun, M. S. (2016). Regional profiles of the candidate tau PET ligand 18FAV-1451 recapitulate key features of Braak histopathological stages. Brain, 139(Pt 5),
  1539-1550. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aww023
- Soleimani-Meigooni, D. N., Iaccarino, L., La Joie, R., Baker, S., Bourakova, V., Boxer, A. L.,
  Edwards, L., Eser, R., Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Jagust, W. J., Janabi, M., Kramer, J. H.,
  Lesman-Segev, O. H., Mellinger, T., Miller, B. L., Pham, J., Rosen, H. J., Spina, S., Seeley,
  W. W., Strom, A., Grinberg, L. T., & Rabinovici, G. D. (2020). 18F-flortaucipir PET to
  autopsy comparisons in Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative diseases.
  Brain. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awaa276
- Thijssen, E. H., La Joie, R., Wolf, A., Strom, A., Wang, P., Iaccarino, L., Bourakova, V., Cobigo, Y., Heuer, H., Spina, S., VandeVrede, L., Chai, X., Proctor, N. K., Airey, D. C., Shcherbinin, S., Duggan Evans, C., Sims, J. R., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., Karydas, A. M., Teunissen, C. E., Kramer, J. H., Grinberg, L. T., Seeley, W. W., Rosen, H., Boeve, B. F., Miller, B. L., Rabinovici, G. D., Dage, J. L., Rojas, J. C., Boxer, A. L., Advancing, R., & Treatment for Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration, i. (2020). Diagnostic value of plasma phosphorylated tau181 in Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. Nat Med, 26(3), 387-397. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-0762-2
- Toledo, J. B., Xie, S. X., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Shaw, L. M. (2013). Longitudinal change in CSF Tau and Abeta biomarkers for up to 48 months in ADNI. Acta Neuropathol, 126(5), 659-670. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-013-1151-4
- Tsai, R. M., Bejanin, A., Lesman-Segev, O., LaJoie, R., Visani, A., Bourakova, V., O'Neil, J. P.,
  Janabi, M., Baker, S., Lee, S. E., Perry, D. C., Bajorek, L., Karydas, A., Spina, S., Grinberg, L.
  T., Seeley, W. W., Ramos, E. M., Coppola, G., Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Miller, B. L., Rosen,
  H. J., Jagust, W., Boxer, A. L., & Rabinovici, G. D. (2019). (18)F-flortaucipir (AV-1451) tau

PET in frontotemporal dementia syndromes. Alzheimers Res Ther, 11(1), 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13195-019-0470-7

- Utianski, R. L., Whitwell, J. L., Schwarz, C. G., Senjem, M. L., Tosakulwong, N., Duffy, J. R., Clark,
  H. M., Machulda, M. M., Petersen, R. C., Jack, C. R., Jr., Lowe, V. J., & Josephs, K. A.
  (2018). Tau-PET imaging with [18F]AV-1451 in primary progressive apraxia of speech.
  Cortex, 99, 358-374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2017.12.021
- Wolters, E. E., Ossenkoppele, R., Verfaillie, S. C. J., Coomans, E. M., Timmers, T., Visser, D.,
  Tuncel, H., Golla, S. S. V., Windhorst, A. D., Boellaard, R., van der Flier, W. M., Teunissen,
  C. E., Scheltens, P., & van Berckel, B. N. M. (2020). Regional [(18)F]flortaucipir PET is
  more closely associated with disease severity than CSF p-tau in Alzheimer's disease. Eur J
  Nucl Med Mol Imaging. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00259-020-04758-2
- Zhao, Q., Liu, M., Ha, L., Zhou, Y., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2019). Quantitative (18)F-AV1451 Brain Tau PET Imaging in Cognitively Normal Older Adults, Mild Cognitive Impairment, and Alzheimer's Disease Patients. Front Neurol, 10, 486.
   https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2019.00486
## Section 3 – Discussion

We sought to examine concordance of T-status defined by CSF PTau181, visual assessment and SUVR quantification of FTP in a large sample of controls and patients with various neurodegenerative conditions, and compare sensitivity and specificity of each modality for diagnosing amyloid-positive symptomatic patients on the AD spectrum.

### 3.1 Concordance of T-status between biomarkers

Overall concordance between all three modalities was 59%, with between-pair concordance averaging around 70-75%. Although no previous study has directly compared FTP visual assessment to other biomarkers, our results on the agreement (76%) and correlation (r= 0.61) between FTP SUVR quantification and CSF PTau are in line with previously published results, as presented in Table 2 of the introduction. Indeed, studies with similar methodology and using the same CSF assay (Elecsys) showed results that were comparable to ours (75%, r=0.51 (Meyer et al., 2020); 80% (Guo et al., 2021); r=0.37 (Boerwinkle et al., 2021)). In our study, T-status designation varied not only by modality, but also by disease stage, with the lowest concordance found in CN and the highest in AD<sub>c</sub>. This finding is not surprising, especially between different measures of tau PET, given the very high signal observed in patients at symptomatic stages of the disease(Ossenkoppele et al., 2016; Scholl et al., 2017).

Although it was initially suggested that fluid and imaging biomarkers of tau might be interchangeable in the AT(N) framework(Jack et al., 2016), there is mounting evidence that they indeed do not reflect the same underlying pathological processes. From a histological standpoint, tau tangles exist in three different maturity stages: pretangles (while tau starts to accumulate in the intracellular space of neurons), mature tangles (intracellular), and ghost tangles (at which point the neuronal body has dissolved and the protein is in the extracellular space)(Moloney et al., 2021). Since FTP binds to more mature forms of tangles, the level of tangle maturity in a subject's brain may influence observed tau PET signal (Lowe et al., 2016; Moloney et al., 2021). In contrast, it is thought that CSF measures of PTau reflect early changes in soluble tau phosphorylation and secretion that occur in response to accumulated  $A\beta$ (Mattsson-Carlgren,

Andersson, et al., 2020). These soluble species may represent tau at a different maturity stage, possibly before tangles become aggregated in the intracellular space(Bateman et al., 2012; Moloney et al., 2021). These differences in the biological substrates of CSF and PET may also explain the emerging evidence of temporal mismatch between the two modalities, with fluid biomarkers of tau becoming positive before imaging, and possibly decreasing in later stages of the disease(Fagan et al., 2014; La Joie et al., 2018; Leuzy, Cicognola, et al., 2019; Meyer et al., 2020; Moscoso et al., 2021; Scholl et al., 2019; Toledo et al., 2013). A recent study by Boerwinkle et al. (2021)has pinpointed a timeframe of 4 to 8 years where CSF positivity precedes tau PET. Furthermore, autopsy data suggests that tau PET is relatively insensitive to early Braak stages(Fleisher et al., 2020; Soleimani-Meigooni et al., 2020). Thus, CSF PTau has been proposed has a marker of disease "state", with a more variable temporal evolution, while tau PET reflects disease "stage", following a linear progression along disease course(Mattsson et al., 2017; Scholl et al., 2019). This may explain the variability of T+ agreement observed in our study by disease stage. In particular, individuals who were T+ on CSF but T- on PET seem to be far more frequent than the reverse, and may represent patients in earlier pathological stages of the disease, with insufficient levels of accumulated mature tau tangles to reach detection by PET. Other authors have also replicated these findings(Guo et al., 2021; Mattsson-Carlgren, Leuzy, et al., 2020). Similarly, AD patients that have reached the dementia stage had lower concordance with CSF PTau181 in our study, with 29% of patients that were T- on CSF. Mattsson et al. had also observed this discrepancy with 46% of AD dementia patients being tau PET positive, yet negative on CSF with the ELISA Innotest assay. Further large-scale longitudinal studies with serial measurements of CSF and PET measures would be needed to clarify the temporal dynamics of both biomarkers in later stages of the disease.

## 3.2 Comparative accuracy of biomarkers

### **3.2.1 FTP visual interpretation**

Comparative analysis of sensitivity and specificity in our study revealed that sensitivity was highest with FTP visual reads (96%), with 100% accuracy compared to autopsy confirmed diagnosis in 11 patients. However, specificity was generally lower with this modality, with many A $\beta$ - CN cases designated as T+. There are multiple possible contributing factors for this finding. First, raters' individual characteristics, training and expertise could certainly influence performance of FTP visual interpretation. Indeed, as illustrated in Supplementary Figure 3, rater 2 tended to "overcall" T+ scans, with the majority of those discordant cases being read as negative by the 3<sup>rd</sup> rater. However, both intra- and inter-rater reliability analyses in our study were comparable overall to previously published studies using similar visual rating schemes(Fleisher et al., 2020; Sonni et al., 2020). Further studies with a larger number of raters would be needed to better characterize the impact of individual rater sensitivity/specificity patterns.

Another plausible explanation for the lower specificity of FTP visual read observed in our study is the impact of mild temporal binding which we considered as T+. The visual rating scheme proposed by Fleisher et al. (2020) suggests restricting T+ interpretation to signal extending beyond the medial/anterior temporal lobes, which would have increased specificity at the expense of sensitivity in our study. Mild temporal signal on FTP remains of unknown significance for the moment. It may represent non-specific signal or noise, as suggested by the relatively high rate of T+ in A $\beta$ - CN subjects in our study (34%), including possible misinterpretation due to adjacent sites of off-target binding in choroid plexi and the base of the skull. However, a higher proportion of A $\beta$ + CN (71%) were read as T+ in our study, suggesting that the signal might actually be biologically meaningful, possibly representing early AD tau pathology. A recent study by McSweeney et al. (2020) supports this hypothesis, showing that there is an association of FTP binding with amyloid-status, CSF pTau and CSF total tau in CN subjects with a family history of AD, even while the vast majority (91%) had temporal SUVR values that would be considered subthreshold on quantification. As stated by the authors, these findings suggest that subthreshold FTP signal should not be disregarded and may very well relate to an ongoing pathological process occurring in the pre-clinical stage of the disease. Further studies with histopathological correlation in CN subjects would be needed to elucidate the true significance of mild temporal signal on visual assessment.

Finally, there is growing evidence that FTP binding is not specific to AD tau pathology, and significant binding may be observed in other neurodegenerative conditions, including tauopathies such as progressive supranuclear palsy and corticobasal degeneration, but also non-tau related proteinopathies (Bevan Jones et al., 2016; R. W. Bevan-Jones et al., 2018; W. R. Bevan-Jones et al., 2018; Ghirelli et al., 2020; Josephs et al., 2016; McMillan et al., 2016; Schonhaut et al., 2017; Soleimani-Meigooni et al., 2020; Tsai et al., 2019; Utianski et al., 2018). While in some cases, a distinct non-AD pattern of binding might be readily identified on visual assessment, it is possible that the distribution of signal may overlap with AD in other cases and lead to a false positive interpretation. In particular, subjects with MAPT mutations, c9orf72 mutations or semantic variant primary progressive aphasia showing intense FTP binding in the temporal lobe may be indistinguishable from AD and be identified as T+(Bevan Jones et al., 2016; R. W. Bevan-Jones et al., 2018; W. R. Bevan-Jones et al., 2018; Soleimani-Meigooni et al., 2020; Tsai et al., 2019). Similarly, primary age-related tauopathy (PART) manifests as mesial temporal tau accumulation in the absence of AB(Crary et al., 2014), and may be responsible for mild FTP binding in the temporal lobe in CN subjects observed in our study and reported by other groups(Das et al., 2019; Lowe et al., 2018; Weigand et al., 2020), including one patient with an autopsy-confirmed diagnosis of PART (Lowe et al., 2020). This entity remains somewhat controversial however, with some authors suggesting that A-T+ individuals may actually represent patients early on the AD pathological continuum(Weigand et al., 2020). Other reports have indicated significant FTP binding in dementia with Lewy bodies, hippocampal sclerosis, globular glial tauopathies, and patients with various subtypes of TAR DNA binding protein 43 (TDP-43)(Ferreira et al., 2020; Gomperts et al., 2016; Lowe et al., 2020; Soleimani-Meigooni et al., 2020). Finally, focal signal due to non-neurodegenerative lesions may occasionally be misleading, such as uptake in a meningioma, cavernous malformation, or infarct or hemorrhage, although usually the pattern of binding will be easily recognized upon visual assessment or upon correlation with anatomic imaging (Bruinsma et al., 2017; Lockhart et al., 2017).

76

### 3.2.2 FTP SUVR quantification

FTP SUVR showed the highest specificity of all three modalities (91%), at the expanse of lower sensitivity especially in preclinical stages of the disease such as  $A\beta$ + CN. In keeping with our findings, multiple studies have suggested that FTP SUVR quantification reflects relatively high Braak stages and may miss mild elevations in FTP signal, especially when using higher thresholds of positivity(Lowe et al., 2020; McSweeney et al., 2020; Soleimani-Meigooni et al., 2020). Cutoff values remain largely arbitrary and cohort-dependent, and will certainly influence accuracy of this metric in determining T-status. Some authors have proposed using lower SUVR threshold values to better capture subjects in early pre-clinical stages of the disease, which may be especially important in selecting patients for anti-tau therapies (McSweeney et al., 2020).

Although it could be expected that using a quantitative measure alone may reduce specificity owing to FTP signal in non-AD pathologies or off-target binding as detailed in the previous section, only few patients had "false-positive" quantification results in our study, which were readily identified by visual assessment. This is probably due to the relatively low number of non-AD subjects with significant FTP signal in the temporal meta-ROI in our study, although this could theoretically be of importance if this method becomes widely used in the clinical setting.

#### 3.2.3 CSF PTau181

Using our cutoff value, CSF PTau showed high sensitivity in Aβ+ CN but reached a relative plateau in Aβ+ MCI cases, while specificity was good across diagnostic groups. Accuracy of CSF Ptau is most certainly influenced by the threshold value used to determine positivity. Since the Elecsys assay is relatively new, few studies have investigated optimal threshold values for diagnostic purposes in AD subjects, although most cutoffs proposed in the literature to date were similar to the one we used in our study (26.64 pg/mL (Guo et al., 2021; Meyer et al., 2020); 27 pg/mL (Blennow et al., 2019; Karikari et al., 2021). In contrast, Grothe et al. (2021) proposed a significantly lower threshold (19.3 pg/mL) which was optimized for distinguishing pathologically confirmed cases of AD dementia vs CN and non-AD subjects at autopsy. Using a lower threshold such as this one would have likely increased sensitivity in our cohort. The population, gold standard and outcome used to derive threshold values certainly influence accuracy of quantitative metrics, and near-threshold cases may account for a significant proportion of disagreement between modalities.

### 3.3 Novel biomarkers and the evolving AT(N) framework

Biomarkers of tau are continuously evolving, and multiple novel targets have emerged in recent years. Considering PET imaging, new radiotracers targeting tau are in development (ex: [<sup>18</sup>F]JNJ-64326067, [<sup>18</sup>F]PI-2620, [<sup>18</sup>F]MK-6240) and show promise for accurately identifying AD tau, with some potential advantages over available molecules such as FTP, including lower off-target binding(Baker et al., 2021; Beyer & Brendel, 2021; Mormino et al., 2021).

One of the most exciting developments in the field of AD research has been the emergence of assays for detection of PTau in plasma, which can be readily and non-invasively obtained through a simple blood draw. Plasma concentrations of PTau (PTau181, PTau217 or PTau231) reflect soluble species that have crossed the blood-brain barrier, and data to date suggests that this biomarker correlates with both CSF PTau and tau PET(Barthelemy et al., 2020; Guo et al., 2021; Janelidze et al., 2021; Janelidze, Mattsson, et al., 2020; Karikari et al., 2021; Karikari et al., 2020; Keshavan et al., 2021; Palmqvist et al., 2020; Suarez-Calvet et al., 2020; Thijssen et al., 2020). There is limited knowledge about the temporal dynamics of plasma biomarkers, but early evidence supports the notion that plasma biomarkers of tau follow the same trajectory as CSF biomarkers, becoming positive early in the disease process, likely before tau PET, and reaching a plateau in later stages(Janelidze et al., 2021; Janelidze et al., 2021; Janelidze et al., 2020; Moscoso et al., 2021; O'Connor et al., 2020). The concordance of these novel biomarkers with FTP imaging, especially with visual assessment algorithms given the recent approval for clinical use of tau PET, remains to be determined.

In addition to novel biomarkers of tau, evolving understanding of the multifactorial pathological disease mechanisms at play in AD have led to a recent proposal of a modified ATX(N) system(Hampel et al., 2021). As such, the fourth 'X' biomarker category includes fluid and imaging markers of various additional pathophysiological processes such as dysfunctions of synaptic

78

activity, blood-brain barrier and neuroinflammation. Additionally, a growing number of authors suggest that the A, T and N categories need not necessarily be used as binary indicators, but that continuous measures or inclusion of "intermediate" categories may be more informative, in an attempt to limit the arbitrary effect of thresholds (Hampel et al., 2021; Jack et al., 2016; Mattsson-Carlgren, Leuzy, et al., 2020). Others have also argued for distinguishing fluid and imaging biomarkers in the AT(N) framework, rather than using them interchangeably(Guo et al., 2021).

# Section 4 – Conclusion

Fluid and imaging biomarkers of tau, as listed in the AT(N) framework, are not interchangeable, and concordance of T-status seems to depend on both method of analysis and disease stage. Each modality offers advantages that should be interpreted in light of its weaknesses and tailored to the specific goals of research studies employing these biomarkers. Fluid biomarkers are more readily accessible and less expensive and have the added advantage of allowing measurements of multiple molecular biomarkers in a single sample(Grothe et al., 2021). As such, the use of CSF or plasma may be favored as an initial screening tool, especially in large-scale or population-wide settings. PET imaging, however, offers invaluable insight into disease stage and topography of tau pathology, which may be of clinical importance for diagnosis and identification of specific disease phenotypes, as well as prognosis and prediction of future decline(Graff-Radford et al., 2021; La Joie et al., 2020). Using a combination of biomarkers, therefore, may be beneficial and optimize sensitivity/specificity for diagnosis of AD. Future research will need to focus on the concordance of novel biomarkers with PET imaging, and investigate optimal detection of early disease stages (for example mesial temporal lobe binding thresholds) for enrolling patients in trials of anti-tau pharmacotherapy.

Accurate diagnosis of AD will be of utmost importance in the near future to ensure judicious and cost-effective use of therapy, especially with the recent approval of an anti-amyloid antibody treatment (Aducanumab) in the United States by the FDA. Considering the high cost (56,000\$US annually), controversial benefit and potential risk profile of this novel therapy, a biomarker-confirmed diagnosis of AD is likely to become the standard of practice in the clinical setting(Rabinovici, 2021).

## References

- 2021 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. (2021). Alzheimers Dement, 17(3), 327-406. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12328
- Albert, M. S., DeKosky, S. T., Dickson, D., Dubois, B., Feldman, H. H., Fox, N. C., Gamst, A., Holtzman, D. M., Jagust, W. J., Petersen, R. C., Snyder, P. J., Carrillo, M. C., Thies, B., & Phelps, C. H. (2011). The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*, 7(3), 270-279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.008
- Alzheimer Society of Canada, C. (2016). Report summary Prevalence and monetary costs of dementia in Canada (2016): a report by the Alzheimer Society of Canada. *Health Promot Chronic Dis Prev Can*, *36*(10), 231-232. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27768560</u> (Note de synthese Prevalence et couts financiers des maladies cognitives au Canada : un rapport de la Societe Alzheimer du Canada (2016).)
- Armstrong, M. J., Litvan, I., Lang, A. E., Bak, T. H., Bhatia, K. P., Borroni, B., Boxer, A. L., Dickson, D. W., Grossman, M., Hallett, M., Josephs, K. A., Kertesz, A., Lee, S. E., Miller, B. L., Reich, S. G., Riley, D. E., Tolosa, E., Troster, A. I., Vidailhet, M., & Weiner, W. J. (2013). Criteria for the diagnosis of corticobasal degeneration. *Neurology*, *80*(5), 496-503. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e31827f0fd1
- Baker, S. L., Harrison, T. M., Maass, A., La Joie, R., & Jagust, W. (2019). Effect of off-target binding on (18)F-Flortaucipir variability in healthy controls across the lifespan. J Nucl Med. https://doi.org/10.2967/jnumed.118.224113
- Baker, S. L., Maass, A., & Jagust, W. J. (2017). Considerations and code for partial volume correcting [(18)F]-AV-1451 tau PET data. *Data Brief*, 15, 648-657. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2017.10.024
- Baker, S. L., Provost, K., Thomas, W., Whitman, A. J., Janabi, M., Schmidt, M. E., Timmers, M., Kolb, H. C., Rabinovici, G. D., & Jagust, W. J. (2021). Evaluation of [(18)F]-JNJ-64326067-AAA tau

PET tracer in humans. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 271678X211031035. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271678X211031035

- Barker, W. W., Luis, C. A., Kashuba, A., Luis, M., Harwood, D. G., Loewenstein, D., Waters, C., Jimison, P., Shepherd, E., Sevush, S., Graff-Radford, N., Newland, D., Todd, M., Miller, B., Gold, M., Heilman, K., Doty, L., Goodman, I., Robinson, B., Pearl, G., Dickson, D., & Duara, R. (2002). Relative frequencies of Alzheimer disease, Lewy body, vascular and frontotemporal dementia, and hippocampal sclerosis in the State of Florida Brain Bank. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*, *16*(4), 203-212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00002093-200210000-00001</u>
- Barthelemy, N. R., Horie, K., Sato, C., & Bateman, R. J. (2020). Blood plasma phosphorylated-tau isoforms track CNS change in Alzheimer's disease. J Exp Med, 217(11). https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20200861
- Bateman, R. J., Xiong, C., Benzinger, T. L., Fagan, A. M., Goate, A., Fox, N. C., Marcus, D. S., Cairns, N. J., Xie, X., Blazey, T. M., Holtzman, D. M., Santacruz, A., Buckles, V., Oliver, A., Moulder, K., Aisen, P. S., Ghetti, B., Klunk, W. E., McDade, E., Martins, R. N., Masters, C. L., Mayeux, R., Ringman, J. M., Rossor, M. N., Schofield, P. R., Sperling, R. A., Salloway, S., Morris, J. C., & Dominantly Inherited Alzheimer, N. (2012). Clinical and biomarker changes in dominantly inherited Alzheimer's disease. *N Engl J Med*, *367*(9), 795-804. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1202753
- Beach, T. G., Monsell, S. E., Phillips, L. E., & Kukull, W. (2012). Accuracy of the clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer disease at National Institute on Aging Alzheimer Disease Centers, 2005-2010. J
   Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 71(4), 266-273. https://doi.org/10.1097/NEN.0b013e31824b211b
- Bevan Jones, W. R., Cope, T. E., Passamonti, L., Fryer, T. D., Hong, Y. T., Aigbirhio, F., Kril, J. J., Forrest, S. L., Allinson, K., Coles, J. P., Simon Jones, P., Spillantini, M. G., Hodges, J. R., O'Brien, J. T., & Rowe, J. B. (2016). [(18)F]AV-1451 PET in behavioral variant frontotemporal dementia due to MAPT mutation. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol*, *3*(12), 940-947. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/acn3.366">https://doi.org/10.1002/acn3.366</a>

- Bevan-Jones, R. W., Cope, T. E., Jones, S. P., Passamonti, L., Hong, Y. T., Fryer, T., Arnold, R., Coles,
  J. P., Aigbirhio, F. A., Patterson, K., O'Brien, J. T., & Rowe, J. B. (2018). [(18)F]AV-1451
  binding is increased in frontotemporal dementia due to C9orf72 expansion. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol*, 5(10), 1292-1296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/acn3.631</u>
- Bevan-Jones, W. R., Cope, T. E., Jones, P. S., Passamonti, L., Hong, Y. T., Fryer, T. D., Arnold, R., Allinson, K. S. J., Coles, J. P., Aigbirhio, F. I., Patterson, K., O'Brien, J. T., & Rowe, J. B. (2018).
  [(18)F]AV-1451 binding in vivo mirrors the expected distribution of TDP-43 pathology in the semantic variant of primary progressive aphasia. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, *89*(10), 1032-1037. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2017-316402</u>
- Beyer, L., & Brendel, M. (2021). Imaging of Tau Pathology in Neurodegenerative Diseases: An Update. *Semin Nucl Med*, 51(3), 253-263. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semnuclmed.2020.12.004
- Bittner, T., Zetterberg, H., Teunissen, C. E., Ostlund, R. E., Jr., Militello, M., Andreasson, U., Hubeek, I., Gibson, D., Chu, D. C., Eichenlaub, U., Heiss, P., Kobold, U., Leinenbach, A., Madin, K., Manuilova, E., Rabe, C., & Blennow, K. (2016). Technical performance of a novel, fully automated electrochemiluminescence immunoassay for the quantitation of beta-amyloid (1-42) in human cerebrospinal fluid. *Alzheimers Dement*, *12*(5), 517-526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2015.09.009
- Blennow, K., Hampel, H., Weiner, M., & Zetterberg, H. (2010). Cerebrospinal fluid and plasma biomarkers in Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurol, 6(3), 131-144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2010.4</u>
- Blennow, K., Mattsson, N., Scholl, M., Hansson, O., & Zetterberg, H. (2015). Amyloid biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 36(5), 297-309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2015.03.002
- Blennow, K., Shaw, L. M., Stomrud, E., Mattsson, N., Toledo, J. B., Buck, K., Wahl, S., Eichenlaub, U., Lifke, V., Simon, M., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Hansson, O. (2019). Predicting clinical decline and conversion to Alzheimer's disease or dementia using novel Elecsys Abeta(1-42), pTau and tTau CSF immunoassays. *Sci Rep*, *9*(1), 19024. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-54204-z</u>

- Blennow, K., & Zetterberg, H. (2018). Biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease: current status and prospects for the future. J Intern Med, 284(6), 643-663. https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.12816
- Boerwinkle, A. H., Wisch, J. K., Chen, C. D., Gordon, B. A., Butt, O. H., Schindler, S. E., Sutphen, C.,
  Flores, S., Dincer, A., Benzinger, T. L. S., Fagan, A. M., Morris, J. C., & Ances, B. M. (2021).
  Temporal Correlation of CSF and Neuroimaging in the Amyloid-Tau-Neurodegeneration
  Model of Alzheimer Disease. Neurology.
  https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000012123
- Braak, H., & Braak, E. (1991). Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. *Acta Neuropathol*, *82*(4), 239-259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00308809</u>
- Brenowitz, W. D., Hubbard, R. A., Keene, C. D., Hawes, S. E., Longstreth, W. T., Jr., Woltjer, R. L., & Kukull, W. A. (2017). Mixed neuropathologies and estimated rates of clinical progression in a large autopsy sample. *Alzheimers Dement*, *13*(6), 654-662. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2016.09.015">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2016.09.015</a>
- Brier, M. R., Gordon, B., Friedrichsen, K., McCarthy, J., Stern, A., Christensen, J., Owen, C., Aldea,
  P., Su, Y., Hassenstab, J., Cairns, N. J., Holtzman, D. M., Fagan, A. M., Morris, J. C.,
  Benzinger, T. L., & Ances, B. M. (2016). Tau and Abeta imaging, CSF measures, and
  cognition in Alzheimer's disease. *Sci Transl Med*, *8*(338), 338ra366.
  https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf2362
- Bruinsma, T. J., Johnson, D. R., Fang, P., Senjem, M., Josephs, K. A., Whitwell, J. L., Boeve, B. F., Pandey, M. K., Kantarci, K., Jones, D. T., Vemuri, P., Murray, M., Graff-Radford, J., Schwarz, C. G., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., Jack, C. R., Jr., & Lowe, V. J. (2017). Uptake of AV-1451 in meningiomas. *Ann Nucl Med*, *31*(10), 736-743. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12149-017-1205-0</u>
- Buerger, K., Ewers, M., Pirttila, T., Zinkowski, R., Alafuzoff, I., Teipel, S. J., DeBernardis, J., Kerkman,
  D., McCulloch, C., Soininen, H., & Hampel, H. (2006). CSF phosphorylated tau protein correlates with neocortical neurofibrillary pathology in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain*, *129*(Pt 11), 3035-3041. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl269</u>

- Chhatwal, J. P., Schultz, A. P., Marshall, G. A., Boot, B., Gomez-Isla, T., Dumurgier, J., LaPoint, M.,
  Scherzer, C., Roe, A. D., Hyman, B. T., Sperling, R. A., & Johnson, K. A. (2016). Temporal
  T807 binding correlates with CSF tau and phospho-tau in normal elderly. *Neurology*, *87*(9),
  920-926. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000003050
- Crary, J. F., Trojanowski, J. Q., Schneider, J. A., Abisambra, J. F., Abner, E. L., Alafuzoff, I., Arnold, S. E., Attems, J., Beach, T. G., Bigio, E. H., Cairns, N. J., Dickson, D. W., Gearing, M., Grinberg, L. T., Hof, P. R., Hyman, B. T., Jellinger, K., Jicha, G. A., Kovacs, G. G., Knopman, D. S., Kofler, J., Kukull, W. A., Mackenzie, I. R., Masliah, E., McKee, A., Montine, T. J., Murray, M. E., Neltner, J. H., Santa-Maria, I., Seeley, W. W., Serrano-Pozo, A., Shelanski, M. L., Stein, T., Takao, M., Thal, D. R., Toledo, J. B., Troncoso, J. C., Vonsattel, J. P., White, C. L., 3rd, Wisniewski, T., Woltjer, R. L., Yamada, M., & Nelson, P. T. (2014). Primary age-related tauopathy (PART): a common pathology associated with human aging. *Acta Neuropathol*, *128*(6), 755-766. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-014-1349-0
- Cummings, J. (2019). The National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association Framework on Alzheimer's disease: Application to clinical trials. *Alzheimers Dement*, 15(1), 172-178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2018.05.006</u>
- Dakterzada, F., Lopez-Ortega, R., Arias, A., Riba-Llena, I., Ruiz-Julian, M., Huerto, R., Tahan, N., & Pinol-Ripoll, G. (2021). Assessment of the Concordance and Diagnostic Accuracy Between Elecsys and Lumipulse Fully Automated Platforms and Innotest. *Front Aging Neurosci, 13*, 604119. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2021.604119
- Das, S. R., Xie, L., Wisse, L. E. M., Vergnet, N., Ittyerah, R., Cui, S., Yushkevich, P. A., Wolk, D. A., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2019). In vivo measures of tau burden are associated with atrophy in early Braak stage medial temporal lobe regions in amyloidnegative individuals. *Alzheimers Dement*, 15(10), 1286-1295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2019.05.009
- Delacourte, A., David, J. P., Sergeant, N., Buee, L., Wattez, A., Vermersch, P., Ghozali, F., Fallet-Bianco, C., Pasquier, F., Lebert, F., Petit, H., & Di Menza, C. (1999). The biochemical pathway of neurofibrillary degeneration in aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 52(6), 1158-1165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.52.6.1158</u>

- Doecke, J. D., Ward, L., Burnham, S. C., Villemagne, V. L., Li, Q. X., Collins, S., Fowler, C. J., Manuilova, E., Widmann, M., Rainey-Smith, S. R., Martins, R. N., Masters, C. L., & Group, A. R. (2020). Elecsys CSF biomarker immunoassays demonstrate concordance with amyloid-PET imaging. *Alzheimers Res Ther*, *12*(1), 36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13195-020-00595-5</u>
- Dubois, B., Villain, N., Frisoni, G. B., Rabinovici, G. D., Sabbagh, M., Cappa, S., Bejanin, A., Bombois, S., Epelbaum, S., Teichmann, M., Habert, M. O., Nordberg, A., Blennow, K., Galasko, D., Stern, Y., Rowe, C. C., Salloway, S., Schneider, L. S., Cummings, J. L., & Feldman, H. H. (2021). Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: recommendations of the International Working Group. *Lancet Neurol*, 20(6), 484-496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(21)00066-1</u>
- Fagan, A. M., Mintun, M. A., Mach, R. H., Lee, S. Y., Dence, C. S., Shah, A. R., LaRossa, G. N., Spinner, M. L., Klunk, W. E., Mathis, C. A., DeKosky, S. T., Morris, J. C., & Holtzman, D. M. (2006). Inverse relation between in vivo amyloid imaging load and cerebrospinal fluid Abeta42 in humans. *Ann Neurol*, *59*(3), 512-519. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.20730
- Fagan, A. M., Xiong, C., Jasielec, M. S., Bateman, R. J., Goate, A. M., Benzinger, T. L., Ghetti, B., Martins, R. N., Masters, C. L., Mayeux, R., Ringman, J. M., Rossor, M. N., Salloway, S., Schofield, P. R., Sperling, R. A., Marcus, D., Cairns, N. J., Buckles, V. D., Ladenson, J. H., Morris, J. C., Holtzman, D. M., & Dominantly Inherited Alzheimer, N. (2014). Longitudinal change in CSF biomarkers in autosomal-dominant Alzheimer's disease. *Sci Transl Med*, 6(226), 226ra230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3007901</u>
- Ferreira, D., Przybelski, S. A., Lesnick, T. G., Lemstra, A. W., Londos, E., Blanc, F., Nedelska, Z., Schwarz, C. G., Graff-Radford, J., Senjem, M. L., Fields, J. A., Knopman, D. S., Savica, R., Ferman, T. J., Graff-Radford, N. R., Lowe, V. J., Jack, C. R., Jr., Petersen, R. C., Mollenhauer, B., Garcia-Ptacek, S., Abdelnour, C., Hort, J., Bonanni, L., Oppedal, K., Kramberger, M. G., Boeve, B. F., Aarsland, D., Westman, E., & Kantarci, K. (2020). beta-Amyloid and tau biomarkers and clinical phenotype in dementia with Lewy bodies. *Neurology*, *95*(24), e3257-e3268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000010943</u>

- Fleisher, A. S., Pontecorvo, M. J., Devous, M. D., Sr., Lu, M., Arora, A. K., Truocchio, S. P., Aldea,
  P., Flitter, M., Locascio, T., Devine, M., Siderowf, A., Beach, T. G., Montine, T. J., Serrano,
  G. E., Curtis, C., Perrin, A., Salloway, S., Daniel, M., Wellman, C., Joshi, A. D., Irwin, D. J.,
  Lowe, V. J., Seeley, W. W., Ikonomovic, M. D., Masdeu, J. C., Kennedy, I., Harris, T.,
  Navitsky, M., Southekal, S., Mintun, M. A., & Investigators, A. S. (2020). Positron Emission
  Tomography Imaging With [18F]flortaucipir and Postmortem Assessment of Alzheimer
  Disease Neuropathologic Changes. JAMA Neurol.
  https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.0528
- Ghirelli, A., Tosakulwong, N., Weigand, S. D., Clark, H. M., Ali, F., Botha, H., Duffy, J. R., Utianski,
  R. L., Buciuc, M., Murray, M. E., Labuzan, S. A., Spychalla, A. J., Pham, N. T. T., Schwarz, C.
  G., Senjem, M. L., Machulda, M. M., Baker, M., Rademakers, R., Filippi, M., Jack, C. R., Jr.,
  Lowe, V. J., Parisi, J. E., Dickson, D. W., Josephs, K. A., & Whitwell, J. L. (2020). SensitivitySpecificity of Tau and Amyloid beta Positron Emission Tomography in Frontotemporal
  Lobar Degeneration. *Ann Neurol*, *88*(5), 1009-1022. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.25893
- Giannakopoulos, P., Herrmann, F. R., Bussiere, T., Bouras, C., Kovari, E., Perl, D. P., Morrison, J. H.,
  Gold, G., & Hof, P. R. (2003). Tangle and neuron numbers, but not amyloid load, predict
  cognitive status in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, *60*(9), 1495-1500.
  https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000063311.58879.01
- Gomperts, S. N., Locascio, J. J., Makaretz, S. J., Schultz, A., Caso, C., Vasdev, N., Sperling, R., Growdon, J. H., Dickerson, B. C., & Johnson, K. (2016). Tau Positron Emission Tomographic Imaging in the Lewy Body Diseases. *JAMA Neurol*, *73*(11), 1334-1341. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2016.3338
- Gordon, B. A., Friedrichsen, K., Brier, M., Blazey, T., Su, Y., Christensen, J., Aldea, P., McConathy, J., Holtzman, D. M., Cairns, N. J., Morris, J. C., Fagan, A. M., Ances, B. M., & Benzinger, T. L. (2016). The relationship between cerebrospinal fluid markers of Alzheimer pathology and positron emission tomography tau imaging. *Brain*, *139*(Pt 8), 2249-2260. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aww139
- Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Hillis, A. E., Weintraub, S., Kertesz, A., Mendez, M., Cappa, S. F., Ogar, J. M., Rohrer, J. D., Black, S., Boeve, B. F., Manes, F., Dronkers, N. F., Vandenberghe, R.,

Rascovsky, K., Patterson, K., Miller, B. L., Knopman, D. S., Hodges, J. R., Mesulam, M. M.,
& Grossman, M. (2011). Classification of primary progressive aphasia and its variants. *Neurology*, *76*(11), 1006-1014. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e31821103e6</u>

- Graff-Radford, J., Yong, K. X. X., Apostolova, L. G., Bouwman, F. H., Carrillo, M., Dickerson, B. C., Rabinovici, G. D., Schott, J. M., Jones, D. T., & Murray, M. E. (2021). New insights into atypical Alzheimer's disease in the era of biomarkers. *Lancet Neurol*, 20(3), 222-234. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(20)30440-3
- Grothe, M. J., Moscoso, A., Ashton, N. J., Karikari, T. K., Lantero-Rodriguez, J., Snellman, A.,
   Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., Scholl, M., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2021).
   Associations of Fully Automated CSF and Novel Plasma Biomarkers With Alzheimer
   Disease Neuropathology at Autopsy. Neurology.
   https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000012513
- Guo, Y., Huang, Y. Y., Shen, X. N., Chen, S. D., Hu, H., Wang, Z. T., Tan, L., Yu, J. T., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2021). Characterization of Alzheimer's tau biomarker discordance using plasma, CSF, and PET. *Alzheimers Res Ther*, 13(1), 93. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13195-021-00834-3
- Hampel, H., Cummings, J., Blennow, K., Gao, P., Jack, C. R., Jr., & Vergallo, A. (2021). Developing the ATX(N) classification for use across the Alzheimer disease continuum. *Nat Rev Neurol*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-021-00520-w</u>
- Hansson, O., Lehmann, S., Otto, M., Zetterberg, H., & Lewczuk, P. (2019). Advantages and disadvantages of the use of the CSF Amyloid beta (Abeta) 42/40 ratio in the diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease. *Alzheimers Res Ther*, *11*(1), 34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13195-019-0485-0</u>
- Hansson, O., Seibyl, J., Stomrud, E., Zetterberg, H., Trojanowski, J. Q., Bittner, T., Lifke, V., Corradini, V., Eichenlaub, U., Batrla, R., Buck, K., Zink, K., Rabe, C., Blennow, K., Shaw, L. M., Swedish Bio, F. s. g., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2018). CSF biomarkers of Alzheimer's disease concord with amyloid-beta PET and predict clinical progression: A study of fully automated immunoassays in BioFINDER and ADNI cohorts. *Alzheimers Dement*, *14*(11), 1470-1481. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2018.01.010">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2018.01.010</a>

- Hoglinger, G. U., Respondek, G., Stamelou, M., Kurz, C., Josephs, K. A., Lang, A. E., Mollenhauer, B., Muller, U., Nilsson, C., Whitwell, J. L., Arzberger, T., Englund, E., Gelpi, E., Giese, A., Irwin, D. J., Meissner, W. G., Pantelyat, A., Rajput, A., van Swieten, J. C., Troakes, C., Antonini, A., Bhatia, K. P., Bordelon, Y., Compta, Y., Corvol, J. C., Colosimo, C., Dickson, D. W., Dodel, R., Ferguson, L., Grossman, M., Kassubek, J., Krismer, F., Levin, J., Lorenzl, S., Morris, H. R., Nestor, P., Oertel, W. H., Poewe, W., Rabinovici, G., Rowe, J. B., Schellenberg, G. D., Seppi, K., van Eimeren, T., Wenning, G. K., Boxer, A. L., Golbe, L. I., Litvan, I., & Movement Disorder Society-endorsed, P. S. P. S. G. (2017). Clinical diagnosis of progressive supranuclear palsy: The movement disorder society criteria. *Mov Disord*, *32*(6), 853-864. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.26987
- Hyman, B. T., Phelps, C. H., Beach, T. G., Bigio, E. H., Cairns, N. J., Carrillo, M. C., Dickson, D. W., Duyckaerts, C., Frosch, M. P., Masliah, E., Mirra, S. S., Nelson, P. T., Schneider, J. A., Thal, D. R., Thies, B., Trojanowski, J. Q., Vinters, H. V., & Montine, T. J. (2012). National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association guidelines for the neuropathologic assessment of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement, 8*(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2011.10.007
- Jack, C. R., Jr., Bennett, D. A., Blennow, K., Carrillo, M. C., Dunn, B., Haeberlein, S. B., Holtzman, D. M., Jagust, W., Jessen, F., Karlawish, J., Liu, E., Molinuevo, J. L., Montine, T., Phelps, C., Rankin, K. P., Rowe, C. C., Scheltens, P., Siemers, E., Snyder, H. M., Sperling, R., & Contributors. (2018). NIA-AA Research Framework: Toward a biological definition of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*, 14(4), 535-562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2018.02.018
- Jack, C. R., Jr., Bennett, D. A., Blennow, K., Carrillo, M. C., Feldman, H. H., Frisoni, G. B., Hampel, H., Jagust, W. J., Johnson, K. A., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., Scheltens, P., Sperling, R. A., & Dubois, B. (2016). A/T/N: An unbiased descriptive classification scheme for Alzheimer disease biomarkers. *Neurology*, *87*(5), 539-547. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0000000002923">https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000002923</a>
- Jack, C. R., Jr., Knopman, D. S., Jagust, W. J., Petersen, R. C., Weiner, M. W., Aisen, P. S., Shaw, L. M., Vemuri, P., Wiste, H. J., Weigand, S. D., Lesnick, T. G., Pankratz, V. S., Donohue, M. C.,

& Trojanowski, J. Q. (2013). Tracking pathophysiological processes in Alzheimer's disease: an updated hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers. *Lancet Neurol*, *12*(2), 207-216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70291-0</u>

- Jack, C. R., Jr., Knopman, D. S., Jagust, W. J., Shaw, L. M., Aisen, P. S., Weiner, M. W., Petersen, R.
  C., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2010). Hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers of the Alzheimer's pathological cascade. *Lancet Neurol*, 9(1), 119-128. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70299-6
- Jack, C. R., Jr., Therneau, T. M., Weigand, S. D., Wiste, H. J., Knopman, D. S., Vemuri, P., Lowe, V. J., Mielke, M. M., Roberts, R. O., Machulda, M. M., Graff-Radford, J., Jones, D. T., Schwarz, C. G., Gunter, J. L., Senjem, M. L., Rocca, W. A., & Petersen, R. C. (2019). Prevalence of Biologically vs Clinically Defined Alzheimer Spectrum Entities Using the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association Research Framework. JAMA Neurol. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.1971
- Jack, C. R., Jr., Wiste, H. J., Weigand, S. D., Therneau, T. M., Lowe, V. J., Knopman, D. S., Gunter, J. L., Senjem, M. L., Jones, D. T., Kantarci, K., Machulda, M. M., Mielke, M. M., Roberts, R. O., Vemuri, P., Reyes, D. A., & Petersen, R. C. (2017). Defining imaging biomarker cut points for brain aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*, *13*(3), 205-216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2016.08.005
- Janelidze, S., Berron, D., Smith, R., Strandberg, O., Proctor, N. K., Dage, J. L., Stomrud, E., Palmqvist, S., Mattsson-Carlgren, N., & Hansson, O. (2021). Associations of Plasma Phospho-Tau217 Levels With Tau Positron Emission Tomography in Early Alzheimer Disease. JAMA Neurol, 78(2), 149-156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.4201</u>
- Janelidze, S., Mattsson, N., Palmqvist, S., Smith, R., Beach, T. G., Serrano, G. E., Chai, X., Proctor, N. K., Eichenlaub, U., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., Reiman, E. M., Stomrud, E., Dage, J. L., & Hansson, O. (2020). Plasma P-tau181 in Alzheimer's disease: relationship to other biomarkers, differential diagnosis, neuropathology and longitudinal progression to Alzheimer's dementia. *Nat Med*, *26*(3), 379-386. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-0755-1</u>

- Janelidze, S., Mattsson, N., Stomrud, E., Lindberg, O., Palmqvist, S., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., & Hansson, O. (2018). CSF biomarkers of neuroinflammation and cerebrovascular dysfunction in early Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*, *91*(9), e867-e877. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000006082
- Janelidze, S., Stomrud, E., Smith, R., Palmqvist, S., Mattsson, N., Airey, D. C., Proctor, N. K., Chai, X., Shcherbinin, S., Sims, J. R., Triana-Baltzer, G., Theunis, C., Slemmon, R., Mercken, M., Kolb, H., Dage, J. L., & Hansson, O. (2020). Cerebrospinal fluid p-tau217 performs better than p-tau181 as a biomarker of Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Commun*, *11*(1), 1683. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-15436-0">https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-15436-0</a>
- Josephs, K. A., Whitwell, J. L., Tacik, P., Duffy, J. R., Senjem, M. L., Tosakulwong, N., Jack, C. R., Lowe, V., Dickson, D. W., & Murray, M. E. (2016). [18F]AV-1451 tau-PET uptake does correlate with quantitatively measured 4R-tau burden in autopsy-confirmed corticobasal degeneration. *Acta Neuropathol*, 132(6), 931-933. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-016-1618-1</u>
- Jung, N. Y., Kim, E. S., Kim, H. S., Jeon, S., Lee, M. J., Pak, K., Lee, J. H., Lee, Y. M., Lee, K., Shin, J. H., Ko, J. K., Lee, J. M., Yoon, J. A., Hwang, C., Choi, K. U., Lee, E. C., Seong, J. K., Huh, G. Y., Kim, D. S., & Kim, E. J. (2020). Comparison of Diagnostic Performances Between Cerebrospinal Fluid Biomarkers and Amyloid PET in a Clinical Setting. J Alzheimers Dis, 74(2), 473-490. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-191109
- Kapasi, A., DeCarli, C., & Schneider, J. A. (2017). Impact of multiple pathologies on the threshold for clinically overt dementia. *Acta Neuropathol*, 134(2), 171-186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-017-1717-7</u>
- Karanth, S., Nelson, P. T., Katsumata, Y., Kryscio, R. J., Schmitt, F. A., Fardo, D. W., Cykowski, M. D., Jicha, G. A., Van Eldik, L. J., & Abner, E. L. (2020). Prevalence and Clinical Phenotype of Quadruple Misfolded Proteins in Older Adults. *JAMA Neurol*, *77*(10), 1299-1307. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.1741
- Karikari, T. K., Benedet, A. L., Ashton, N. J., Lantero Rodriguez, J., Snellman, A., Suarez-Calvet, M.,
  Saha-Chaudhuri, P., Lussier, F., Kvartsberg, H., Rial, A. M., Pascoal, T. A., Andreasson, U.,
  Scholl, M., Weiner, M. W., Rosa-Neto, P., Trojanowski, J. Q., Shaw, L. M., Blennow, K.,

Zetterberg, H., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2021). Diagnostic performance and prediction of clinical progression of plasma phospho-tau181 in the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative. *Mol Psychiatry*, *26*(2), 429-442. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-020-00923-z

- Karikari, T. K., Pascoal, T. A., Ashton, N. J., Janelidze, S., Benedet, A. L., Rodriguez, J. L., Chamoun, M., Savard, M., Kang, M. S., Therriault, J., Scholl, M., Massarweh, G., Soucy, J. P., Hoglund, K., Brinkmalm, G., Mattsson, N., Palmqvist, S., Gauthier, S., Stomrud, E., Zetterberg, H., Hansson, O., Rosa-Neto, P., & Blennow, K. (2020). Blood phosphorylated tau 181 as a biomarker for Alzheimer's disease: a diagnostic performance and prediction modelling study using data from four prospective cohorts. *Lancet Neurol*, *19*(5), 422-433. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(20)30071-5
- Keshavan, A., Pannee, J., Karikari, T. K., Rodriguez, J. L., Ashton, N. J., Nicholas, J. M., Cash, D. M., Coath, W., Lane, C. A., Parker, T. D., Lu, K., Buchanan, S. M., Keuss, S. E., James, S. N., Murray-Smith, H., Wong, A., Barnes, A., Dickson, J. C., Heslegrave, A., Portelius, E., Richards, M., Fox, N. C., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., & Schott, J. M. (2021). Populationbased blood screening for preclinical Alzheimer's disease in a British birth cohort at age 70. Brain, 144(2), 434-449. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awaa403
- Kreisl, W. C., Lao, P. J., Johnson, A., Tomljanovic, Z., Klein, J., Polly, K., Maas, B., Laing, K. K., Chesebro, A. G., Igwe, K., Razlighi, Q. R., Honig, L. S., Yan, X., Lee, S., Mintz, A., Luchsinger, J. A., Stern, Y., Devanand, D. P., & Brickman, A. M. (2021). Patterns of tau pathology identified with (18) F-MK-6240 PET imaging. *Alzheimers Dement*. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12384
- La Joie, R., Bejanin, A., Fagan, A. M., Ayakta, N., Baker, S. L., Bourakova, V., Boxer, A. L., Cha, J., Karydas, A., Jerome, G., Maass, A., Mensing, A., Miller, Z. A., O'Neil, J. P., Pham, J., Rosen, H. J., Tsai, R., Visani, A. V., Miller, B. L., Jagust, W. J., & Rabinovici, G. D. (2018). Associations between [(18)F]AV1451 tau PET and CSF measures of tau pathology in a clinical sample. *Neurology*, *90*(4), e282-e290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000004860</u>
- La Joie, R., Visani, A. V., Baker, S. L., Brown, J. A., Bourakova, V., Cha, J., Chaudhary, K., Edwards, L., Iaccarino, L., Janabi, M., Lesman-Segev, O. H., Miller, Z. A., Perry, D. C., O'Neil, J. P.,

Pham, J., Rojas, J. C., Rosen, H. J., Seeley, W. W., Tsai, R. M., Miller, B. L., Jagust, W. J., & Rabinovici, G. D. (2020). Prospective longitudinal atrophy in Alzheimer's disease correlates with the intensity and topography of baseline tau-PET. *Sci Transl Med*, *12*(524). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aau5732

- Lantero Rodriguez, J., Karikari, T. K., Suarez-Calvet, M., Troakes, C., King, A., Emersic, A., Aarsland, D., Hye, A., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., & Ashton, N. J. (2020). Plasma p-tau181 accurately predicts Alzheimer's disease pathology at least 8 years prior to post-mortem and improves the clinical characterisation of cognitive decline. *Acta Neuropathol*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-020-02195-x</u>
- Lee, J., Jang, H., Kang, S. H., Kim, J., Kim, J. S., Kim, J. P., Kim, H. J., Seo, S. W., & Na, D. L. (2020). Cerebrospinal Fluid Biomarkers for the Diagnosis and Classification of Alzheimer's Disease Spectrum. *J Korean Med Sci*, *35*(44), e361. https://doi.org/10.3346/jkms.2020.35.e361
- Leuzy, A., Chiotis, K., Lemoine, L., Gillberg, P. G., Almkvist, O., Rodriguez-Vieitez, E., & Nordberg,
   A. (2019). Tau PET imaging in neurodegenerative tauopathies-still a challenge. *Mol Psychiatry*, 24(8), 1112-1134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-018-0342-8</u>
- Leuzy, A., Cicognola, C., Chiotis, K., Saint-Aubert, L., Lemoine, L., Andreasen, N., Zetterberg, H.,
   Ye, K., Blennow, K., Hoglund, K., & Nordberg, A. (2019). Longitudinal tau and metabolic
   PET imaging in relation to novel CSF tau measures in Alzheimer's disease. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*, 46(5), 1152-1163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00259-018-4242-6</u>
- Lifke, V., Kollmorgen, G., Manuilova, E., Oelschlaegel, T., Hillringhaus, L., Widmann, M., von Arnim, C. A. F., Otto, M., Christenson, R. H., Powers, J. L., Shaw, L. M., Hansson, O., Doecke, J. D., Li, Q. X., Teunissen, C., Tumani, H., & Blennow, K. (2019). Elecsys((R)) Total-Tau and Phospho-Tau (181P) CSF assays: Analytical performance of the novel, fully automated immunoassays for quantification of tau proteins in human cerebrospinal fluid. *Clin Biochem*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2019.05.005</u>
- Litvan, I., Agid, Y., Calne, D., Campbell, G., Dubois, B., Duvoisin, R. C., Goetz, C. G., Golbe, L. I., Grafman, J., Growdon, J. H., Hallett, M., Jankovic, J., Quinn, N. P., Tolosa, E., & Zee, D. S. (1996). Clinical research criteria for the diagnosis of progressive supranuclear palsy

(Steele-Richardson-Olszewski syndrome): report of the NINDS-SPSP international workshop. *Neurology*, *47*(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.47.1.1

- Lockhart, S. N., Ayakta, N., Winer, J. R., La Joie, R., Rabinovici, G. D., & Jagust, W. J. (2017). Elevated (18)F-AV-1451 PET tracer uptake detected in incidental imaging findings. *Neurology*, *88*(11), 1095-1097. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000003724
- Lowe, V. J., Bruinsma, T. J., Min, H. K., Lundt, E. S., Fang, P., Senjem, M. L., Boeve, B. F., Josephs, K. A., Pandey, M. K., Murray, M. E., Kantarci, K., Jones, D. T., Schwarz, C. G., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., & Jack, C. R., Jr. (2018). Elevated medial temporal lobe and pervasive brain tau-PET signal in normal participants. *Alzheimers Dement (Amst)*, *10*, 210-216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dadm.2018.01.005
- Lowe, V. J., Curran, G., Fang, P., Liesinger, A. M., Josephs, K. A., Parisi, J. E., Kantarci, K., Boeve, B.
  F., Pandey, M. K., Bruinsma, T., Knopman, D. S., Jones, D. T., Petrucelli, L., Cook, C. N.,
  Graff-Radford, N. R., Dickson, D. W., Petersen, R. C., Jack, C. R., Jr., & Murray, M. E. (2016).
  An autoradiographic evaluation of AV-1451 Tau PET in dementia. *Acta Neuropathol Commun*, 4(1), 58. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-016-0315-6">https://doi.org/10.1186/s40478-016-0315-6</a>
- Lowe, V. J., Lundt, E. S., Albertson, S. M., Min, H. K., Fang, P., Przybelski, S. A., Senjem, M. L., Schwarz, C. G., Kantarci, K., Boeve, B., Jones, D. T., Reichard, R. R., Tranovich, J. F., Hanna Al-Shaikh, F. S., Knopman, D. S., Jack, C. R., Jr., Dickson, D. W., Petersen, R. C., & Murray, M. E. (2020). Tau-positron emission tomography correlates with neuropathology findings. *Alzheimers Dement*, *16*(3), 561-571. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2019.09.079</u>
- Maass, A., Landau, S., Baker, S. L., Horng, A., Lockhart, S. N., La Joie, R., Rabinovici, G. D., Jagust,
   W. J., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2017). Comparison of multiple tau-PET measures as biomarkers in aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroimage*, 157, 448-463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.05.058
- Marquie, M., Normandin, M. D., Vanderburg, C. R., Costantino, I. M., Bien, E. A., Rycyna, L. G.,
  Klunk, W. E., Mathis, C. A., Ikonomovic, M. D., Debnath, M. L., Vasdev, N., Dickerson, B. C.,
  Gomperts, S. N., Growdon, J. H., Johnson, K. A., Frosch, M. P., Hyman, B. T., & Gomez-Isla,
  T. (2015). Validating novel tau positron emission tomography tracer [F-18]-AV-1451 (T807)

on postmortem brain tissue. Ann Neurol, 78(5), 787-800. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24517

- Marquie, M., Siao Tick Chong, M., Anton-Fernandez, A., Verwer, E. E., Saez-Calveras, N., Meltzer, A. C., Ramanan, P., Amaral, A. C., Gonzalez, J., Normandin, M. D., Frosch, M. P., & Gomez-Isla, T. (2017). [F-18]-AV-1451 binding correlates with postmortem neurofibrillary tangle Braak staging. *Acta Neuropathol*, *134*(4), 619-628. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-017-1740-8</u>
- Mattsson, N., Andreasson, U., Persson, S., Carrillo, M. C., Collins, S., Chalbot, S., Cutler, N., Dufour-Rainfray, D., Fagan, A. M., Heegaard, N. H., Robin Hsiung, G. Y., Hyman, B., Iqbal, K., Kaeser, S. A., Lachno, D. R., Lleo, A., Lewczuk, P., Molinuevo, J. L., Parchi, P., Regeniter, A., Rissman, R. A., Rosenmann, H., Sancesario, G., Schroder, J., Shaw, L. M., Teunissen, C. E., Trojanowski, J. Q., Vanderstichele, H., Vandijck, M., Verbeek, M. M., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., & Alzheimer's Association, Q. C. P. W. G. (2013). CSF biomarker variability in the Alzheimer's Association quality control program. *Alzheimers Dement*, *9*(3), 251-261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2013.01.010
- Mattsson, N., Scholl, M., Strandberg, O., Smith, R., Palmqvist, S., Insel, P. S., Hagerstrom, D., Ohlsson, T., Zetterberg, H., Jogi, J., Blennow, K., & Hansson, O. (2017). (18)F-AV-1451 and CSF T-tau and P-tau as biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease. *EMBO Mol Med*, 9(9), 1212-1223. <a href="https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201707809">https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201707809</a>
- Mattsson, N., Smith, R., Strandberg, O., Palmqvist, S., Scholl, M., Insel, P. S., Hagerstrom, D., Ohlsson, T., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., Jogi, J., & Hansson, O. (2018). Comparing (18)F-AV-1451 with CSF t-tau and p-tau for diagnosis of Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*, *90*(5), e388-e395. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000004887
- Mattsson-Carlgren, N., Andersson, E., Janelidze, S., Ossenkoppele, R., Insel, P., Strandberg, O., Zetterberg, H., Rosen, H. J., Rabinovici, G., Chai, X., Blennow, K., Dage, J. L., Stomrud, E., Smith, R., Palmqvist, S., & Hansson, O. (2020). Abeta deposition is associated with increases in soluble and phosphorylated tau that precede a positive Tau PET in Alzheimer's disease. *Sci Adv*, *6*(16), eaaz2387. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaz2387">https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaz2387</a>

- Mattsson-Carlgren, N., Grinberg, L. T., Boxer, A., Ossenkoppele, R., Jonsson, M., Seeley, W., Ehrenberg, A., Spina, S., Janelidze, S., Rojas-Martinez, J., Rosen, H., La Joie, R., Lesman-Segev, O., Iaccarino, L., Kollmorgen, G., Ljubenkov, P., Eichenlaub, U., Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Miller, B., Hansson, O., & Rabinovici, G. D. (In press.). Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers in autopsy-confirmed Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Neurology*.
- Mattsson-Carlgren, N., Leuzy, A., Janelidze, S., Palmqvist, S., Stomrud, E., Strandberg, O., Smith, R., & Hansson, O. (2020). The implications of different approaches to define AT(N) in Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000009485
- McKeith, I. G., Boeve, B. F., Dickson, D. W., Halliday, G., Taylor, J. P., Weintraub, D., Aarsland, D., Galvin, J., Attems, J., Ballard, C. G., Bayston, A., Beach, T. G., Blanc, F., Bohnen, N., Bonanni, L., Bras, J., Brundin, P., Burn, D., Chen-Plotkin, A., Duda, J. E., El-Agnaf, O., Feldman, H., Ferman, T. J., Ffytche, D., Fujishiro, H., Galasko, D., Goldman, J. G., Gomperts, S. N., Graff-Radford, N. R., Honig, L. S., Iranzo, A., Kantarci, K., Kaufer, D., Kukull, W., Lee, V. M. Y., Leverenz, J. B., Lewis, S., Lippa, C., Lunde, A., Masellis, M., Masliah, E., McLean, P., Mollenhauer, B., Montine, T. J., Moreno, E., Mori, E., Murray, M., O'Brien, J. T., Orimo, S., Postuma, R. B., Ramaswamy, S., Ross, O. A., Salmon, D. P., Singleton, A., Taylor, A., Thomas, A., Tiraboschi, P., Toledo, J. B., Trojanowski, J. Q., Tsuang, D., Walker, Z., Yamada, M., & Kosaka, K. (2017). Diagnosis and management of dementia with Lewy bodies: Fourth consensus report of the DLB Consortium. Neurology, 89(1), 88-100. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000004058
- McKhann, G. M., Knopman, D. S., Chertkow, H., Hyman, B. T., Jack, C. R., Jr., Kawas, C. H., Klunk,
   W. E., Koroshetz, W. J., Manly, J. J., Mayeux, R., Mohs, R. C., Morris, J. C., Rossor, M. N.,
   Scheltens, P., Carrillo, M. C., Thies, B., Weintraub, S., & Phelps, C. H. (2011). The diagnosis of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*, 7(3), 263-269. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.005</a>
- McMillan, C. T., Boyd, C., Gross, R. G., Weinstein, J., Firn, K., Toledo, J. B., Rascovsky, K., Shaw, L., Wolk, D. A., Irwin, D. J., Lee, E. B., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Grossman, M. (2016). Multimodal

imaging evidence of pathology-mediated disease distribution in corticobasal syndrome. *Neurology*, *87*(12), 1227-1234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000003119</u>

- McSweeney, M., Pichet Binette, A., Meyer, P. F., Gonneaud, J., Bedetti, C., Ozlen, H., Labonte, A., Rosa-Neto, P., Breitner, J., Poirier, J., Villeneuve, S., & Group, P.-A. R. (2020). Intermediate flortaucipir uptake is associated with Abeta-PET and CSF tau in asymptomatic adults. *Neurology*, 94(11), e1190-e1200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000008905</u>
- Meyer, P. F., Binette, A. P., Gonneaud, J., Breitner, J. C. S., & Villeneuve, S. (2020). Characterization of Alzheimer Disease Biomarker Discrepancies Using Cerebrospinal Fluid Phosphorylated Tau and AV1451 Positron Emission Tomography. JAMA Neurol. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.4749">https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.4749</a>
- Mishra, S., Gordon, B. A., Su, Y., Christensen, J., Friedrichsen, K., Jackson, K., Hornbeck, R., Balota,
  D. A., Cairns, N. J., Morris, J. C., Ances, B. M., & Benzinger, T. L. S. (2017). AV-1451 PET imaging of tau pathology in preclinical Alzheimer disease: Defining a summary measure. *Neuroimage*, *161*, 171-178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.07.050
- Moloney, C. M., Lowe, V. J., & Murray, M. E. (2021). Visualization of neurofibrillary tangle maturity in Alzheimer's disease: A clinicopathologic perspective for biomarker research. *Alzheimers Dement*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12321</u>
- Montine, T. J., Phelps, C. H., Beach, T. G., Bigio, E. H., Cairns, N. J., Dickson, D. W., Duyckaerts, C., Frosch, M. P., Masliah, E., Mirra, S. S., Nelson, P. T., Schneider, J. A., Thal, D. R., Trojanowski, J. Q., Vinters, H. V., Hyman, B. T., National Institute on, A., & Alzheimer's, A. (2012). National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association guidelines for the neuropathologic assessment of Alzheimer's disease: a practical approach. *Acta Neuropathol*, *123*(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-011-0910-3
- Mormino, E. C., Toueg, T. N., Azevedo, C., Castillo, J. B., Guo, W., Nadiadwala, A., Corso, N. K., Hall, J. N., Fan, A., Trelle, A. N., Harrison, M. B., Hunt, M. P., Sha, S. J., Deutsch, G., James, M., Fredericks, C. A., Koran, M. E., Zeineh, M., Poston, K., Greicius, M. D., Khalighi, M., Davidzon, G. A., Shen, B., Zaharchuk, G., Wagner, A. D., & Chin, F. T. (2021). Tau PET imaging with (18)F-PI-2620 in aging and neurodegenerative diseases. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*, *48*(7), 2233-2244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00259-020-04923-7</u>

- Moscoso, A., Grothe, M. J., Ashton, N. J., Karikari, T. K., Rodriguez, J. L., Snellman, A., Suarez-Calvet, M., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., Scholl, M., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2021). Time course of phosphorylated-tau181 in blood across the Alzheimer's disease spectrum. *Brain*, *144*(1), 325-339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awaa399</u>
- Nelson, P. T., Alafuzoff, I., Bigio, E. H., Bouras, C., Braak, H., Cairns, N. J., Castellani, R. J., Crain, B. J., Davies, P., Del Tredici, K., Duyckaerts, C., Frosch, M. P., Haroutunian, V., Hof, P. R., Hulette, C. M., Hyman, B. T., Iwatsubo, T., Jellinger, K. A., Jicha, G. A., Kovari, E., Kukull, W. A., Leverenz, J. B., Love, S., Mackenzie, I. R., Mann, D. M., Masliah, E., McKee, A. C., Montine, T. J., Morris, J. C., Schneider, J. A., Sonnen, J. A., Thal, D. R., Trojanowski, J. Q., Troncoso, J. C., Wisniewski, T., Woltjer, R. L., & Beach, T. G. (2012). Correlation of Alzheimer disease neuropathologic changes with cognitive status: a review of the literature. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, *71*(5), 362-381. https://doi.org/10.1097/NEN.0b013e31825018f7
- Nelson, P. T., Dickson, D. W., Trojanowski, J. Q., Jack, C. R., Boyle, P. A., Arfanakis, K., Rademakers, R., Alafuzoff, I., Attems, J., Brayne, C., Coyle-Gilchrist, I. T. S., Chui, H. C., Fardo, D. W., Flanagan, M. E., Halliday, G., Hokkanen, S. R. K., Hunter, S., Jicha, G. A., Katsumata, Y., Kawas, C. H., Keene, C. D., Kovacs, G. G., Kukull, W. A., Levey, A. I., Makkinejad, N., Montine, T. J., Murayama, S., Murray, M. E., Nag, S., Rissman, R. A., Seeley, W. W., Sperling, R. A., White Iii, C. L., Yu, L., & Schneider, J. A. (2019). Limbic-predominant age-related TDP-43 encephalopathy (LATE): consensus working group report. *Brain*, *142*(6), 1503-1527. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awz099
- O'Connor, A., Karikari, T. K., Poole, T., Ashton, N. J., Lantero Rodriguez, J., Khatun, A., Swift, I., Heslegrave, A. J., Abel, E., Chung, E., Weston, P. S. J., Pavisic, I. M., Ryan, N. S., Barker, S., Rossor, M. N., Polke, J. M., Frost, C., Mead, S., Blennow, K., Zetterberg, H., & Fox, N. C. (2020). Plasma phospho-tau181 in presymptomatic and symptomatic familial Alzheimer's disease: a longitudinal cohort study. *Mol Psychiatry*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-020-0838-x</u>

- Oh, M., Kim, J. S., Oh, J. S., Lee, C. S., & Chung, S. J. (2017). Different subregional metabolism patterns in patients with cerebellar ataxia by 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography. *PLoS One*, *12*(3), e0173275. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173275
- Okafor, M., Nye, J. A., Shokouhi, M., Shaw, L. M., Goldstein, F., & Hajjar, I. (2020). 18F-Flortaucipir
   PET Associations with Cerebrospinal Fluid, Cognition, and Neuroimaging in Mild Cognitive
   Impairment due to Alzheimer's Disease. J Alzheimers Dis, 74(2), 589-601.
   https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-191330
- Olsson, B., Lautner, R., Andreasson, U., Ohrfelt, A., Portelius, E., Bjerke, M., Holtta, M., Rosen, C., Olsson, C., Strobel, G., Wu, E., Dakin, K., Petzold, M., Blennow, K., & Zetterberg, H. (2016).
  CSF and blood biomarkers for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Neurol*, *15*(7), 673-684. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(16)00070-3</u>
- Ossenkoppele, R., Jansen, W. J., Rabinovici, G. D., Knol, D. L., van der Flier, W. M., van Berckel, B. N., Scheltens, P., Visser, P. J., Amyloid, P. E. T. S. G., Verfaillie, S. C., Zwan, M. D., Adriaanse, S. M., Lammertsma, A. A., Barkhof, F., Jagust, W. J., Miller, B. L., Rosen, H. J., Landau, S. M., Villemagne, V. L., Rowe, C. C., Lee, D. Y., Na, D. L., Seo, S. W., Sarazin, M., Roe, C. M., Sabri, O., Barthel, H., Koglin, N., Hodges, J., Leyton, C. E., Vandenberghe, R., van Laere, K., Drzezga, A., Forster, S., Grimmer, T., Sanchez-Juan, P., Carril, J. M., Mok, V., Camus, V., Klunk, W. E., Cohen, A. D., Meyer, P. T., Hellwig, S., Newberg, A., Frederiksen, K. S., Fleisher, A. S., Mintun, M. A., Wolk, D. A., Nordberg, A., Rinne, J. O., Chetelat, G., Lleo, A., Blesa, R., Fortea, J., Madsen, K., Rodrigue, K. M., & Brooks, D. J. (2015). Prevalence of amyloid PET positivity in dementia syndromes: a meta-analysis. *JAMA*, *313*(19), 1939-1949. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2015.4669
- Ossenkoppele, R., Rabinovici, G. D., Smith, R., Cho, H., Scholl, M., Strandberg, O., Palmqvist, S., Mattsson, N., Janelidze, S., Santillo, A., Ohlsson, T., Jogi, J., Tsai, R., La Joie, R., Kramer, J., Boxer, A. L., Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Miller, B. L., Choi, J. Y., Ryu, Y. H., Lyoo, C. H., & Hansson, O. (2018). Discriminative Accuracy of [18F]flortaucipir Positron Emission Tomography for Alzheimer Disease vs Other Neurodegenerative Disorders. *JAMA*, *320*(11), 1151-1162. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.12917">https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.12917</a>

- Ossenkoppele, R., Schonhaut, D. R., Scholl, M., Lockhart, S. N., Ayakta, N., Baker, S. L., O'Neil, J. P., Janabi, M., Lazaris, A., Cantwell, A., Vogel, J., Santos, M., Miller, Z. A., Bettcher, B. M., Vossel, K. A., Kramer, J. H., Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Miller, B. L., Jagust, W. J., & Rabinovici, G. D. (2016). Tau PET patterns mirror clinical and neuroanatomical variability in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain*, *139*(Pt 5), 1551-1567. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aww027
- Palmqvist, S., Janelidze, S., Quiroz, Y. T., Zetterberg, H., Lopera, F., Stomrud, E., Su, Y., Chen, Y., Serrano, G. E., Leuzy, A., Mattsson-Carlgren, N., Strandberg, O., Smith, R., Villegas, A., Sepulveda-Falla, D., Chai, X., Proctor, N. K., Beach, T. G., Blennow, K., Dage, J. L., Reiman, E. M., & Hansson, O. (2020). Discriminative Accuracy of Plasma Phospho-tau217 for Alzheimer Disease vs Other Neurodegenerative Disorders. *JAMA*. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.12134
- Palmqvist, S., Janelidze, S., Stomrud, E., Zetterberg, H., Karl, J., Zink, K., Bittner, T., Mattsson, N.,
   Eichenlaub, U., Blennow, K., & Hansson, O. (2019). Performance of Fully Automated
   Plasma Assays as Screening Tests for Alzheimer Disease-Related beta-Amyloid Status.
   JAMA Neurol. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.1632
- Pontecorvo, M. J., Keene, C. D., Beach, T. G., Montine, T. J., Arora, A. K., Devous, M. D., Sr., Navitsky, M., Kennedy, I., Joshi, A. D., Lu, M., Serrano, G. E., Sue, L. I., Intorcia, A. J., Rose, S. E., Wilson, A., Hellstern, L., Coleman, N., Flitter, M., Aldea, P., Fleisher, A. S., Mintun, M. A., & Siderowf, A. (2020). Comparison of regional flortaucipir PET with quantitative tau immunohistochemistry in three subjects with Alzheimer's disease pathology: a clinicopathological study. *EJNMMI Res*, *10*(1), 65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13550-020-00653-x</u>
- Rabinovici, G. D. (2021). Controversy and Progress in Alzheimer's Disease FDA Approval of Aducanumab. *N Engl J Med*. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp2111320
- Rabinovici, G. D., Gatsonis, C., Apgar, C., Chaudhary, K., Gareen, I., Hanna, L., Hendrix, J., Hillner,
  B. E., Olson, C., Lesman-Segev, O. H., Romanoff, J., Siegel, B. A., Whitmer, R. A., & Carrillo,
  M. C. (2019). Association of Amyloid Positron Emission Tomography With Subsequent
  Change in Clinical Management Among Medicare Beneficiaries With Mild Cognitive

 Impairment
 or
 Dementia.
 JAMA,
 321(13),
 1286-1294.

 https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.2000

 321(13),
 1286-1294.

- Rajan, K. B., Weuve, J., Barnes, L. L., McAninch, E. A., Wilson, R. S., & Evans, D. A. (2021). Population estimate of people with clinical Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment in the United States (2020-2060). *Alzheimers Dement*. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12362
- Rascovsky, K., Hodges, J. R., Knopman, D., Mendez, M. F., Kramer, J. H., Neuhaus, J., van Swieten, J. C., Seelaar, H., Dopper, E. G., Onyike, C. U., Hillis, A. E., Josephs, K. A., Boeve, B. F., Kertesz, A., Seeley, W. W., Rankin, K. P., Johnson, J. K., Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Rosen, H., Prioleau-Latham, C. E., Lee, A., Kipps, C. M., Lillo, P., Piguet, O., Rohrer, J. D., Rossor, M. N., Warren, J. D., Fox, N. C., Galasko, D., Salmon, D. P., Black, S. E., Mesulam, M., Weintraub, S., Dickerson, B. C., Diehl-Schmid, J., Pasquier, F., Deramecourt, V., Lebert, F., Pijnenburg, Y., Chow, T. W., Manes, F., Grafman, J., Cappa, S. F., Freedman, M., Grossman, M., & Miller, B. L. (2011). Sensitivity of revised diagnostic criteria for the behavioural 9), of frontotemporal dementia. Brain, 134(Pt 2456-2477. variant https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awr179
- Roman, G. C., Tatemichi, T. K., Erkinjuntti, T., Cummings, J. L., Masdeu, J. C., Garcia, J. H., Amaducci, L., Orgogozo, J. M., Brun, A., Hofman, A., & et al. (1993). Vascular dementia: diagnostic criteria for research studies. Report of the NINDS-AIREN International Workshop. *Neurology*, *43*(2), 250-260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.43.2.250</u>
- Scholl, M., Maass, A., Mattsson, N., Ashton, N. J., Blennow, K., Zetterberg, H., & Jagust, W. (2019).
   Biomarkers for tau pathology. *Mol Cell Neurosci*, *97*, 18-33.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2018.12.001
- Scholl, M., Ossenkoppele, R., Strandberg, O., Palmqvist, S., Swedish Bio, F. s., Jogi, J., Ohlsson, T.,
   Smith, R., & Hansson, O. (2017). Distinct 18F-AV-1451 tau PET retention patterns in earlyand late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Brain*, 140(9), 2286-2294. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awx171</u>
- Schonhaut, D. R., McMillan, C. T., Spina, S., Dickerson, B. C., Siderowf, A., Devous, M. D., Sr., Tsai, R., Winer, J., Russell, D. S., Litvan, I., Roberson, E. D., Seeley, W. W., Grinberg, L. T., Kramer,

J. H., Miller, B. L., Pressman, P., Nasrallah, I., Baker, S. L., Gomperts, S. N., Johnson, K. A., Grossman, M., Jagust, W. J., Boxer, A. L., & Rabinovici, G. D. (2017). (18) F-flortaucipir tau positron emission tomography distinguishes established progressive supranuclear palsy from controls and Parkinson disease: A multicenter study. *Ann Neurol, 82*(4), 622-634. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.25060

- Schwarz, A. J. (2021). The Use, Standardization, and Interpretation of Brain Imaging Data in Clinical Trials of Neurodegenerative Disorders. *Neurotherapeutics*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-021-01027-4
- Schwarz, A. J., Yu, P., Miller, B. B., Shcherbinin, S., Dickson, J., Navitsky, M., Joshi, A. D., Devous,
  M. D., Sr., & Mintun, M. S. (2016). Regional profiles of the candidate tau PET ligand 18FAV-1451 recapitulate key features of Braak histopathological stages. *Brain*, 139(Pt 5), 1539-1550. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/aww023
- Soleimani-Meigooni, D. N., Iaccarino, L., La Joie, R., Baker, S., Bourakova, V., Boxer, A. L., Edwards, L., Eser, R., Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Jagust, W. J., Janabi, M., Kramer, J. H., Lesman-Segev, O. H., Mellinger, T., Miller, B. L., Pham, J., Rosen, H. J., Spina, S., Seeley, W. W., Strom, A., Grinberg, L. T., & Rabinovici, G. D. (2020). 18F-flortaucipir PET to autopsy comparisons in Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative diseases. *Brain*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awaa276</u>
- Sonni, I., Lesman Segev, O. H., Baker, S. L., Iaccarino, L., Korman, D., Rabinovici, G. D., Jagust, W. J., Landau, S. M., La Joie, R., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2020). Evaluation of a visual interpretation method for tau-PET with (18)F-flortaucipir. *Alzheimers Dement (Amst)*, 12(1), e12133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dad2.12133</u>
- Sperling, R. A., Aisen, P. S., Beckett, L. A., Bennett, D. A., Craft, S., Fagan, A. M., Iwatsubo, T., Jack, C. R., Jr., Kaye, J., Montine, T. J., Park, D. C., Reiman, E. M., Rowe, C. C., Siemers, E., Stern, Y., Yaffe, K., Carrillo, M. C., Thies, B., Morrison-Bogorad, M., Wagster, M. V., & Phelps, C. H. (2011). Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*, 7(3), 280-292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.003

- Suarez-Calvet, M., Karikari, T. K., Ashton, N. J., Lantero Rodriguez, J., Mila-Aloma, M., Gispert, J. D., Salvado, G., Minguillon, C., Fauria, K., Shekari, M., Grau-Rivera, O., Arenaza-Urquijo, E. M., Sala-Vila, A., Sanchez-Benavides, G., Gonzalez-de-Echavarri, J. M., Kollmorgen, G., Stoops, E., Vanmechelen, E., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., Molinuevo, J. L., & Study, A. (2020). Novel tau biomarkers phosphorylated at T181, T217 or T231 rise in the initial stages of the preclinical Alzheimer's continuum when only subtle changes in Abeta pathology are detected. *EMBO Mol Med*, *12*(12), e12921. https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.202012921
- Thijssen, E. H., La Joie, R., Wolf, A., Strom, A., Wang, P., Iaccarino, L., Bourakova, V., Cobigo, Y., Heuer, H., Spina, S., VandeVrede, L., Chai, X., Proctor, N. K., Airey, D. C., Shcherbinin, S., Duggan Evans, C., Sims, J. R., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., Karydas, A. M., Teunissen, C. E., Kramer, J. H., Grinberg, L. T., Seeley, W. W., Rosen, H., Boeve, B. F., Miller, B. L., Rabinovici, G. D., Dage, J. L., Rojas, J. C., Boxer, A. L., Advancing, R., & Treatment for Frontotemporal Lobar Degeneration, i. (2020). Diagnostic value of plasma phosphorylated tau181 in Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal lobar degeneration. *Nat Med*, *26*(3), 387-397. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-0762-2
- Toledo, J. B., Xie, S. X., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Shaw, L. M. (2013). Longitudinal change in CSF Tau and Abeta biomarkers for up to 48 months in ADNI. *Acta Neuropathol*, *126*(5), 659-670. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-013-1151-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-013-1151-4</a>
- Tsai, R. M., Bejanin, A., Lesman-Segev, O., LaJoie, R., Visani, A., Bourakova, V., O'Neil, J. P., Janabi, M., Baker, S., Lee, S. E., Perry, D. C., Bajorek, L., Karydas, A., Spina, S., Grinberg, L. T., Seeley, W. W., Ramos, E. M., Coppola, G., Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Miller, B. L., Rosen, H. J., Jagust, W., Boxer, A. L., & Rabinovici, G. D. (2019). (18)F-flortaucipir (AV-1451) tau PET in frontotemporal dementia syndromes. *Alzheimers Res Ther*, 11(1), 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13195-019-0470-7
- Utianski, R. L., Whitwell, J. L., Schwarz, C. G., Senjem, M. L., Tosakulwong, N., Duffy, J. R., Clark, H.
  M., Machulda, M. M., Petersen, R. C., Jack, C. R., Jr., Lowe, V. J., & Josephs, K. A. (2018).
  Tau-PET imaging with [18F]AV-1451 in primary progressive apraxia of speech. *Cortex*, 99, 358-374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2017.12.021</u>

- van Waarde, A., Marcolini, S., de Deyn, P. P., & Dierckx, R. (2021). PET Agents in Dementia: An Overview. *Semin Nucl Med*, *51*(3), 196-229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semnuclmed.2020.12.008</u>
- Villa, C., Lavitrano, M., Salvatore, E., & Combi, R. (2020). Molecular and Imaging Biomarkers in Alzheimer's Disease: A Focus on Recent Insights. J Pers Med, 10(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm10030061
- Weigand, A. J., Bangen, K. J., Thomas, K. R., Delano-Wood, L., Gilbert, P. E., Brickman, A. M., Bondi,
   M. W., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2020). Is tau in the absence of amyloid on
   the Alzheimer's continuum?: A study of discordant PET positivity. *Brain Commun*, 2(1),
   fcz046. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/braincomms/fcz046</u>
- Willemse, E. A. J., Tijms, B. M., van Berckel, B. N. M., Le Bastard, N., van der Flier, W. M., Scheltens,
   P., & Teunissen, C. E. (2021). Comparing CSF amyloid-beta biomarker ratios for two automated immunoassays, Elecsys and Lumipulse, with amyloid PET status. *Alzheimers Dement (Amst)*, 13(1), e12182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dad2.12182</u>
- Wolters, E. E., Ossenkoppele, R., Verfaillie, S. C. J., Coomans, E. M., Timmers, T., Visser, D., Tuncel, H., Golla, S. S. V., Windhorst, A. D., Boellaard, R., van der Flier, W. M., Teunissen, C. E., Scheltens, P., & van Berckel, B. N. M. (2020). Regional [(18)F]flortaucipir PET is more closely associated with disease severity than CSF p-tau in Alzheimer's disease. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00259-020-04758-2
- Zhao, Q., Liu, M., Ha, L., Zhou, Y., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging, I. (2019). Quantitative (18)F-AV1451 Brain Tau PET Imaging in Cognitively Normal Older Adults, Mild Cognitive Impairment, and Alzheimer's Disease Patients. *Front Neurol*, 10, 486. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2019.00486">https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2019.00486</a>

# **Supplementary material**

# Supplementary Table 1.

	ADNI (n=179)	UCSF ADRC (n=98)	BioFINDER (n=74)
Age (y)	72.3 ± 8.1	$62.8 \pm 8.5$	75.6 ± 4.7
Sex (M, %)	76 (42%)	48 (49%)	32 (43%)
Education (y)	16.3 ± 2.5	16.9 ± 3.7	12.0 ± 3.6
MMSE	27.7 ± 2.7	$22.8 \pm 6.2$	26.9 ±
<b>Amyloid status</b> (Aβ+, %)	85 (47%)	64 (65%)	47 (64%)
Clinical diagnosis			
(%) CN	80 (45%)	0 (0%)	47 (64%)
MCI	83 (46%)	15 (15%)	8 (11%)
ADc	16 (9%)	50 (51%)	18 (24%)
non-AD	0 (0%)	33 (34%)	1 (1%)

*Supplementary Table 1. - Patient characteristics from the final cohort (n=351) by site.* 

Mean ± SD is shown for continuous variables. CN: cognitively normal, MCI: mild cognitive impairment, ADc: Alzheimer's disease dementia, non-ADc: non-AD disorders

# Supplementary Figure 1.



Supplementary Figure 1. - Study design

CN: cognitively normal, MCI: mild cognitive impairment, AD: Alzheimer's disease dementia, non- ADc: non-Alzheimer's disease disorders, n/a: not available
#### Supplementary Table 2.

	UCSF ADRC	ADNI	BioFINDER
Determination of amyloid status	[ <sup>11</sup> C]PIB PET global neocortical SUVR > 1.21 (ref 1)	[ <sup>18</sup> F]florbetapir SUVR > 1.11 [ <sup>18</sup> F]florbetaben SUVR> 1.08 (ref 2,3)	[ <sup>18</sup> F]Flutemetamol PET global neocortical SUVR > 0.69 or CSF Aβ42 < 650 ng/L (ELISA Innotest) (ref 4)
MRI acquisition	3T Tim Trio or Prisma scanner (Siemens Medical Solutions)	3T scanners (multiple) (http://adni.loni.usc.edu/wp- content/themes/freshnews-dev- v2/documents/mri/ADNI3-MRI- protocols.pdf)	3T Tim Trio or Skyra scanner (Siemens Medical Solutions)
PET [ <sup>18</sup> F]flortaucipir acquisition	Biograph 6 Truepoint PET/CT (Siemens Medical Solutions) 80-100 min post injection	Multiple scanners ( <u>http://adni.loni.usc.edu/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2012/10/ADNI3_PET-</u> <u>Tech-Manual_V2.0_20161206.pdf</u> ) 75-105 min post injection	Discovery 690 PET/CT (GE Medical Systems) 80-100 min post injection
PET processing	Processed locally	Extracted SUVR values downloaded from adni.loni.usc.edu	Extracted SUVR values provided from Lund University
CSF collection	ADNI protocol (adni.loni.usc.edu)		Alzheimer's Association Flow Chart for CSF biomarkers (ref 5)

Supplementary Table 2. - Detailed methods for determination of amyloid status, imaging parameters and

#### CSF collection for each cohort

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Ossenkoppele R, Schonhaut DR, Scholl M, Lockhart SN, Ayakta N, Baker SL, et al. Tau PET patterns mirror clinical and neuroanatomical variability in Alzheimer's disease. Brain. 2016;139:1551-67. doi:10.1093/brain/aww027.
- Joshi AD, Pontecorvo MJ, Clark CM, et al. Florbetapir F18 Study Investigators. Performance characteristics of amyloid PET with florbetapir F18 in patients with alzheimer's disease and cognitively normal subjects. *J Nucl Med*. 2012;53(3):378-384.
- 3. Clark CM, Schneider JA, Bedell BJ, et al. AV45-A07 Study Group. Use of florbetapir-PET for imaging beta- amyloid pathology. *JAMA*. 2011;305 (3):275-283. doi:10.1001/jama.2010.2008
- Ossenkoppele R, Rabinovici GD, Smith R, Cho H, Scholl M, Strandberg O, et al. Discriminative Accuracy of [18F]flortaucipir Positron Emission Tomography for Alzheimer Disease vs Other Neurodegenerative Disorders. JAMA. 2018;320:1151-62.
- 5. Blennow K, Hampel H, Weiner M, Zetterberg H. Cerebrospinal fluid and plasma biomarkers in Alzheimer disease. Nat Rev Neurol. 2010;6:131-44. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2010.4.

# Supplementary Figure 2.



Supplementary Figure 2. - Violin plots of CSF PTau181 (A) and FTP SUVR (B) values by clinical clinical diagnosis

### **Supplementary Figure 3.**



Supplementary Figure 3. - Assigned T-status on FTP visual assessment by amyloid status for both raters (n=351)

Consensus T-status from  $3^{rd}$  rater is shown in dotted bubbles for discordant cases (n=57)

# Supplementary Table 3.

	FTP visual	FTP SUVR		
	assessment	quantification	Cor plau	
FTP visual	-	PPA: 96%	PPA: 83%	
assessment		NPA: 59%	NPA: 54%	
FTP SUVR	PPA: 61%	-	PPA: 67%	
quantification	NPA: 96%		NPA: 84%	
CSE nTau	PPA: 61%	PPA: 78%	-	
	NPA: 79%	NPA: 75%		

*Supplementary Table 3. Positive and negative percent agreement between modalities* 

PPA: positive percent agreement, NPA: negative percent agreement Row names indicate the index test that was considered for these analyses (ex: CSF pTau vs FTP visual assessment: in 61% of cases when CSF pTau was positive, visual assessment was also positive).

# Supplementary Figure 4.



Supplementary Figure 4. - Distribution of CSF PTau181 and FTP SUVR in T+ and T- cases on visual assessment by consensus from two raters (A, n=295) versus three raters (B, n=56)

# Supplementary Table 4.

	CSF PTau181 T+ CSF PTau181 T- (n=60) (n=24)		p value	
Age (y)	65.4 ± 9.2	68.0 ± 9.1	p=.25	
MMSE	20.3 ± 5.5	21.3 ± 4.6	p=.40	
CSF PTau181 (pg/mL)	42.5 ± 15.4	19.4 ± 3.4	p<.001	
FTP SUVR	2.16 ± 0.48	1.71 ± 0.47	p<.001	

Supplementary Table 4. - Characteristics of patients with clinical diagnosis of AD (n=84, 81A6+), and T- or T+ status by CSF PTau181

*Mean* ± *standard deviation are shown for continuous variables* 

### Supplementary Table 5.

Subject	Clinical diagnosis	Pathological diagnosis	Thal phase (0-5)	Braak stage (0-6)	CSF PTau181 (pg/mL)	FTP SUVR	FTP visual
1	bvFTD	FTLD-tau (MAPT) & AD	5	4	8.4	1.20	positive
2	PSP	FTLD-tau (PSP) & AD	5	3	10.5	1.28	positive
3	PSP	FTLD-tau (PSP)	1	2	16.1	1.18	negative
4	PSP	FTLD-tau (CBD)	0	1	11.9	1.16	negative
5	AD	AD	5	6	37.6	2.35	positive
6	nfvPPA	FTLD-tau (PSP)	2	2	25.9	1.18	negative
7	bvFTD	AGD	0	3	11.5	1.06	negative
8	bvFTD	FTLD-tau (MAPT)	0	0	17.0	1.28	negative
9	AD	AD	5	6	55.1	2.80	positive
10	AD	AD	5	6	46.4	2.03	positive
11	AD	AD	5	6	19.1	2.30	positive

Supplementary Table 5. - Details of patient with autopsy confirmed diagnosis (n=11) in the UCSF ADRC cohort

*bvFTD: behavioral variant fronto-temporal dementia, FTLD: fronto-temporal lobar degeneration, MAPT: microtubule associated protein tau, AD: Alzheimer's disease, PSP: progressive supranuclear palsy, CBD: corticobasal degeneration, nfvPPA: non-fluent variant primary progressive aphasia, AGD: argyrophilic grain disease*